
Rockaway Beach City Hall is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 hours before the meeting to City Hall at 503-374-1752. 

City of Rockaway Beach 
Planning Commission Meeting Agenda       
 
Date:   Thursday, June 20, 2024  
Time:   5:00 P.M. 
Location:  Rockaway Beach City Hall, 276 HWY 101 - Civic Facility  
 
Watch live stream here:  https://corb.us/live-stream 
View meeting later here: https://corb.us/planning-commission/ 
 
Join here to attend remotely:  
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84612210774?pwd=dyM25nIbt6FwcZ1VhKaZKmBf9fzQjt.1 
Meeting ID: 846 1221 0774 
Passcode: 337051 
Dial by your location 
253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER – Bill Hassell, Planning Commission President 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

3. ROLL CALL 
President: Bill Hassell 
Commissioners: Pat Olson, Zandra Umholtz, Sandra Johnson, Georgeanne Zedrick, Stephanie 
Winchester, and Nancy Lanyon 
City Councilors:  Charles McNeilly, Mayor; and Mary McGinnis, Planning Commission Liaison 

 
4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

a. May 16, 2024 Meeting Minutes 
 

5. PRESENTATIONS, GUESTS & ANNOUNCEMENTS – None Scheduled 
 

6. STAFF REPORTS  
 

7. PUBLIC HEARING 
 

a. CU #24-1: Consideration of an Application for Conditional Use at 137 South Beacon 
Street (Tillamook County Assessor’s Map # 2N1032CC Lot #6300) for a Single Family 
Dwelling in the C-1 Commercial Zone.   
 

b. PUD #24-1: Consideration of an Application from Nedonna Development LLC, for a 
modification to the Planned Unit Development that was approved by the City in 2008 for 
the property identified on Tillamook County Assessor’s Map as 2N1020AB Tax Lots 
10200, 10400, and 10500. 
 
 

8. CITIZEN INPUT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS 
  

https://corb.us/live-stream
https://corb.us/planning-commission/
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84612210774?pwd=dyM25nIbt6FwcZ1VhKaZKmBf9fzQjt.1


Rockaway Beach City Hall is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 hours before the meeting to City Hall at 503-374-1752. 

 
9. OLD BUSINESS – None Scheduled 

 
10. NEW BUSINESS - None Scheduled 

 
11. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS & CONCERNS 

 
12. ADJOURNMENT 



 

Rockaway Beach Planning Commission   Page 1 of 9 
Minutes – May 16, 2024 

City of Rockaway Beach 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes      
 
Date:   Thursday, May 16, 2024 
Location:  Rockaway Beach City Hall, 276 HWY 101 - Civic Facility  

 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
Planning Commission President Hassell called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. 

 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
3. ROLL CALL 

Start time: 05:01:00 PM (00:00:19) 
 
Position #2 - Stephanie Winchester: Present 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: Present 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Present 
Position #5 - Bill Hassell: Present 
Position #1 - Zandra Umholtz: Present 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: Present 
Position #6 - Nancy Lanyon: Present 
 
President: Bill Hassell 
 
Commissioners: Sandra Johnson, Nancy Lanyon, Pat Olson, Zandra Umholtz, Stephanie Winchester 
(via Zoom), and Georgeanne Zedrick 
 
Council Members Excused: Charles McNeilly, Mayor; and Mary McGinnis, Planning Commission 
Liaison 
 
Staff Present: Luke Shepard, City Manager; Mary Johnson, City Planner; and Melissa Thompson, 

City Recorder 
 
 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Start time: 05:01:27 PM (00:00:46) 
 
Olson noted a correction to the minutes. 
 
Johnson made a motion, seconded by Zedrick, to approve the April 18, 2024 minutes as amended. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: Motion 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: 2nd 
Position #2 - Stephanie Winchester: Approve 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: Approve 

avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:00:19
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:00:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:00:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:00:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:00:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:00:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:00:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:00:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:00:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:00:46
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:01:27
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:01:27
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:01:27
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:01:27


 

Rockaway Beach Planning Commission   Page 2 of 9 
Minutes – May 16, 2024 

Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Approve 
Position #1 - Zandra Umholtz: Approve 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: Approve 
Position #6 - Nancy Lanyon: Approve 
 
 
 

5. PRESENTATIONS, GUESTS & ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
Hassell gave a presentation on Mobi-Mats that are designed to improve accessibility for beach access. 
Hassell passed around samples of the Mobi-Mat material. He recommended that the City Council 
review and incorporate it into the Strategic Plan. Hassell answered clarifying questions.  
 
Zedrick made a motion, seconded by Johnson, that Hassell take the Mobi-Mat presentation to the 
City Council. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Motion 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: 2nd 
Position #2 - Stephanie Winchester: Approve 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: Approve 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Approve 
Position #1 - Zandra Umholtz: Approve 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: Approve 
Position #6 - Nancy Lanyon: Approve 
 
 

6. STAFF REPORTS 
Start time: 05:19:03 PM (00:18:22) 
 
City Planner Johnson provided updates on the permits issued by the Planning Department in April, 
the Anchor Street Park project, the newly-opened Wayside restrooms, the Salmonberry Trail kick-off 
meeting and website updates, the FEMA Biological Opinion (BiOp), and grant funding to be received 
for the Lake Lytle restroom project. 

 
At the request of Commissioner Johnson, City Planner Johnson provided further explanation of the 
FEMA BiOp. 
 
 

7. PUBLIC HEARING  
Start time: 05:23:34 PM (00:22:53) 

 
a. Variance #24-02: Consideration of an Application for a Variance at 101 S. Miller Street 
in Rockaway Beach (Tillamook County Assessor’s Map # 2N1032CC Lot #9600) to 

Decrease the Number of Required Parking Spaces to Construct a New Mixed-Use Building 
 
Hassell opened the public hearing at 5:23 p.m. 

 

avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:01:27
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:01:27
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:01:27
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:01:27
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:02:11
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:02:11
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:18:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:18:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:18:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:18:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:18:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:18:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:18:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:18:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:18:22
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@00:22:53


 

Rockaway Beach Planning Commission   Page 3 of 9 
Minutes – May 16, 2024 

Hassell read opening statements, public hearing disclosure statements and procedures, and 
testifying instructions.  He explained that the Applicants are Debra Reeves and Bryce Zehrung. 
Hassell stated the property is 101 South Miller Street, Rockaway Beach and is further identified 
on Tillamook County Assessor’s Map # 2N1032CC Lot #9600. Hassell stated that the Hearing 
will be on an application requesting approval of a variance to reduce the number of required 
parking spaces for their proposed mixed-use building from six parking spaces to two. Hassell 
explained the Applicants seek to construct a three-story, mixed-use building which would consist 
of commercial space on the bottom floor, two dwelling units on the second floor, and a third 
dwelling unit on the third floor.  No parking is required for the commercial space.  Two parking 
spaces are required for each of the dwelling units. 
 
Hassell invited Commissioners to declare any bias or conflicts of interest.  None were declared 
and there were no challenges from the audience on the basis of bias. 

 
Hassell invited Commissioners to declare any ex-parte contact. Commissioner Johnson disclosed 
that she was frequently in the vicinity of the property, and she had a conversation that week with 
applicant Debra Reeves regarding the painting of the building currently in progress. Johnson 
stated that they did not discuss the Application. Zedrick, Lanyon, Olson, Winchester and Hassell 
declared site visits and visits to the property as customers of the business located on the property.  
 
City Planner Johnson presented the Staff Report, introducing it with a PowerPoint presentation. 
(A copy of the presentation is included in the hearing record.)  
 
Lanyon inquired about potential increase in water capacity. City Planner Johnson explained that 
water capacity would be considered at the time of application for a water connection. Lanyon 
inquired about designation of the 3 existing parking spaces. City Planner Johnson replied that she 
was not aware of any current designation. Zedrick inquired about the driveway on the north side. 
Shepard and City Planner Johnson suggested that the applicant could address the question. 
Commissioner Johnson inquired about parking for existing residences. City Planner Johnson 
explained that grandfathered exemptions would continue with the original property. 
 
City Planner Johnson reported that written testimony in opposition to the request was received 
from Elizabeth Vermeulen and Alice Pyne in opposition to the application. Additional written 
testimony in opposition was received from Carolyn Walters. No written testimony was received 
in support. 
 
Agent for the Applicants, Rodney Brazile, gave testimony on the request, summarizing the 
proposal and responding to questions raised by the Planning Commissioners. Brazile referred to 
the plot drawing submitted for the application. He said the lower floor must maintain 50% of 
commercial floor space. He explained that 6 parking spaces would not allow the proposed 
structure to maintain 50% commercial space. Brazile stated that the required sidewalks around the 
property took up 3.7 parking spaces. Brazile indicated the main level would be used for the 
owner.  
 
There was no testimony in support of the application.  

 
Nancy Albro, a realtor in a commercial space near the subject property, testified in opposition. 
Albro shared that there are already a high number of cars parking near South Miller and 1st Street.  



 

Rockaway Beach Planning Commission   Page 4 of 9 
Minutes – May 16, 2024 

She stated that the Applicant’s customers at 101 South Miller, already take up the parking in front 

of her business for extended periods of time while they socialize, gambled, and did laundry.  She 
believed that allowing the variance request would only exacerbate this issue.  Instead, she suggested 
the Applicants seek a conditional use permit to build a residential only structure, which could be 
raised, and parking could be provided on the ground level.  She also responded directly to the 
statements made in the application that no complaints had been made regarding parking.  She 
clarified that all of the tenants in the neighboring commercial building had made verbal complaints 
to the Applicants regarding the parking congestion created by her businesses and short-term rentals 
at 101 South Miller. 
 
Susan Wilson, at Sea Quest Treasures Mall neighboring the subject property, testified in 
opposition. Wilson stated that the parking for the Mall is often taken up by the Applicant’s 

customers while they gamble or do laundry.  She shared that she had spoken directly with the 
Applicant regarding these issues, but no resolution had been provided.  Wilson indicated she 
believed that granting the variance request would create a hardship for the business owners in the 
area as there would not be parking available to their customers. 
 
Patti Swain, a Rockaway Beach resident, testified in opposition, stating that parking is already 
limited in this area.  Swain stated she believed that the residents deserve to have dedicated 
parking available to them, and was opposed to reducing the parking requirement to two spaces. 
 
Pam Moreland, owner of Beauty at the Beach, a neighboring business to the subject property, 
stated she opposed the variance request as her clients already struggle to find parking near her 
business, many of whom are mobility limited. She stated the area needs more parking, not less. 
 
Agent for the Applicants, Rodney Brazile, provided rebuttal to the opposing testimony. He stated 
that there is no required parking for commercial spaces and acknowledged the Applicant’s had 

attempted to ease the parking concerns for the residential spaces by leasing the three parking 
spaces on South Miller. He commented that existing parking had the same challenges for 
accessibility. 
 
Umholtz asked if the leased parking on South Miller had signs identifying the use of the parking.  
City Planner Johnson responded she was not aware of any identifying signs, but that the lease for 
the three parking spaces was relatively new, and suggested the Agents for the Applicants may be 
able to provide more information. Kristine Hayes, Agents for the Applicants, stated that the 
Applicants had recently ordered signs to identify the leased parking.    
 
Zedrick questioned how the leased parking would be used, either for the pre-existing commercial 
structure or for the residents.  Hayes, Agent for the Applicants, suggested the Planning 
Commissioners could make a condition regarding the use of the leased parking spaces.  
 
Zedrick asked for clarification if the current structure contained residential space and if so, where 
those tenants are parking. Hayes, Agent for the Applicants, stated the parking is grandfathered in 
and the tenants park on the street in the commercial area. 
 
Zedrick asked for clarification regarding the existing driveway on 1st Street and if it would be 
converted into a sidewalk. The Agents for the Applicants stated is a combination of a road approach 
and a sidewalk currently. Zedrick stated her understanding is that vehicles would not be able to 



 

Rockaway Beach Planning Commission   Page 5 of 9 
Minutes – May 16, 2024 

park in front of this type of road approach. The Agents for the Applicants stated that was correct.  
Zedrick asked if it would become a sidewalk. The Agents for the Applicants stated it would remain 
the same, but that people park in front of it already. Zedrick expressed concerns about commercial 
loading and unloading and discussion followed. Shepard suggested that discussion was straying 
away from parking. 
 
Commissioner Johnson asked for clarification of the number of dwelling units in the pre-existing 
structure on the property.  Hayes, Agent for the Applicants, stated there were two.  City Planner 
Johnson confirmed the dwelling units had four exempt parking spaces due to the building’s 

grandfathered status.  Umholtz provided that the application under consideration was for the 
parking for the new, proposed structure, not the pre-existing building. 
 
Umholtz asked for the beginning dates of the leased parking. Hayes, Agent for the Applicants, 
stated was in place as of March 1, 2024. Umholtz stated the parking area on South Miller has 
been coned-off for a long time. Hayes, Agent for the Applicants, stated she was unaware of the 
area being coned-off. 
 
Umholtz asked if the signs would state the parking is reserved for residential use.  The Agents for 
the Applicants stated this could be a condition imposed. City Manager Shepard stated that the 
City does not have jurisdiction over the Port’s right-of-way and could not dictate to the Port 
regarding the posting of signs.   
 
Umholtz stated the lease could be terminated by the Port at any time, therefore the leased parking 
could not be viewed as a permanent solution.  Hayes, Agent for the Applicants, stated they were 
unaware of the Port terminating leases and that the biggest unknown was the Salmonberry Trail.  
Commissioner Johnson stated that in her reading of the lease it could be cancelled by either party 
with 30 days’ notice. Hayes, Agent for the Applicants, confirmed this to be true. 
 
Brazile, Agent for the Applicants, commented that they were just trying to work with what the 
City allows and based their design around the difficulties and hardships on the site from the 
existing structure and sidewalks that were taking up parking space, while providing the required 
commercial space and adding housing. 
 
Commissioner Johnson asked if the Applicant has any plans to make parking available for her 
laundromat customers.  The Agents for the Applicants stated there is no required commercial 
parking and the Applicant is taking the risk onto herself and may lose some of her business, as her 
customers would have to park down the road or across the street.  Commissioner Johnson stated 
that one of the criteria that must be considered is whether the granting of the variance would 
create a safety hazard.  She continued that if the laundromat customers are now having to carry 
their baskets full of laundry over the railroad tracks and loose rocks, this would create a safety 
hazard, or she anticipated that the laundromat customers would likely double-park, impeding the 
flow of traffic on South Miller.  Brazile responded that the leased parking spaces could 
potentially already be filled with customers for the business, therefore this issue may already 
exist. Commissioner Johnson responded that if the variance request were granted, this issue 
would be expounded.  Brazile stated the issue would be the same, noting there was no 
commercial parking requirement. 
 
Winchester commented that some discussion was related to commercial use of parking while the 
applicant has leased space for residential parking space, and asked for staff comments.  City Planner 



 

Rockaway Beach Planning Commission   Page 6 of 9 
Minutes – May 16, 2024 

Johnson noted that concerns expressed regarding a safety hazard or free flow of traffic issues were 
related to the leased parking spaces. City Planner Johnson advised the Commission that what they 
were granting is a parking reduction from six off-street parking spaces, to two.  She advised the 
Commissioners that they should not take the leased parking spaces into account in their 
deliberations, as the leased parking spaces could be terminated at any time 
 
Hayes, Agent for the Applicant, clarified for Umholtz the use of proposed commercial space on the 
application. City Planner Johnson reviewed the submitted drawings with Umholtz. 
 
City Planner Johnson advised the Commission that what they were granting is a parking reduction 
from six off-street parking spaces, to two. She also stated that the Commissioners should not take 
into consideration the commercial space provided on the ground level, as no parking is required for 
it. Additionally, the pre-existing structure’s parking exemption should also not be taken into 

consideration.  She reminded the Commissioners to only consider the criteria for a parking variance, 
not the criteria for a height or setback variance, which had been responded to by the Applicants.   
 
The Agents for the Applicant waived the right to submit additional written arguments. 
 
Zedrick made a motion, seconded by Olson, to close the record and the Public Hearing. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Motion 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: 2nd 
Position #2 - Stephanie Winchester: Approve 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: Approve 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Approve 
Position #5 - Bill Hassell: Approve 
Position #1 - Zandra Umholtz: Approve 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: Approve 
Position #6 - Nancy Lanyon: Approve 
 
Hassell declared the Public Hearing closed at 6:21 p.m. 

 
Commissioner Johnson stated that the role of the Planning Commission was not to change 
existing ordinances but to rule consistently based on how they were written at this time. She noted 
that while the Commission may appreciate the Applicant’s desire to provide more housing and 
commercial space, she didn’t feel the Planning Commission had the right to approve the request 
at the risk of safety and traffic congestion. 
 
Lanyon stated that she appreciated the proposed long-term housing in the mixed-use building and 
that the Applicants had attempted to overcome the parking requirements that the ordinance 
imposed. 
 
Umholtz commented that the Applicant’s willingness to provide long-term housing was amazing, 
but that the residents should be allowed the required parking spaces.  She commented that given 
the nature of the area, especially during the summer months, she believed it would be burdensome 

avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:21:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:21:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:21:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:21:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:21:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:21:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:21:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:21:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:21:16
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:21:16


 

Rockaway Beach Planning Commission   Page 7 of 9 
Minutes – May 16, 2024 

to the tenants to not be provided with any parking. She indicated that allowing the variance in this 
area would be detrimental. 
 
Zedrick made a motion, seconded by Olson, to move that, based on the findings of fact and 
recommendation presented in the City Staff Report and testimony received, the Planning 
Commission deny Variance Application Number 24-02 and authorize the Chair to sign an order 
to that effect. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Motion 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: 2nd 
Position #2 - Stephanie Winchester: Disapprove 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: Approve 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Approve 
Position #5 - Bill Hassell: Approve 
Position #1 - Zandra Umholtz: Approve 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: Approve 
Position #6 - Nancy Lanyon: Disapprove 
 
 
 

8. CITIZEN INPUT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS  
Start time: 06:29:38 PM (01:28:57) 

 
No audience members wished to comment. 

 
 

9. OLD BUSINESS  
 

a. Discussion Regarding Updates to Sign Ordinance  
Start time: 06:29:54 PM (01:29:13) 

 
City Planner Johnson reviewed proposed updates to the Sign Requirements in Section 4.050 of the 
Zoning Ordinance, referring the Commission to the copies of the original and red-line updated 
versions in their meeting packet. She noted that a few provisions were added regarding lighting based 
on recent public input requesting dark skies regulations. She answered clarifying questions for the 
Commission. 
 
Lanyon inquired about considering provisions for signs in disrepair. Shepard suggested that grant 
funds were available for business owners to replace signs in disrepair. Lanyon inquired about 
regulating language on signs.  City Planner Johnson said language restrictions in the Zoning 
Ordinance could be subject to litigation. 
 
Commissioner Johnson inquired about requiring removal of signs for defunct/closed businesses. City 
Planner Johnson expressed concerns about enforcement. Commissioner Johnson expressed concerns 
about the aesthetics of electronic reader board signs and frivolous messages. She suggested safety 
notices were appropriate for government signs. Umholtz noted that the primary intent of the revisions 
was to add provisions for governmental bodies.  

avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:28:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:28:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:28:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:28:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:28:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:28:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:28:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:28:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:28:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:28:40
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:28:57
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:29:13


 

Rockaway Beach Planning Commission   Page 8 of 9 
Minutes – May 16, 2024 

 
Winchester excused herself from the meeting at 6:38 p.m. 

 
 Lanyon commented on signs for food trucks. Shepard commented that the hope was to only change 

what was necessary at this time. City Planner Johnson noted that food trucks may also be addressed 
with other ordinance updates. 

 
 Umholtz expressed that she thought the revisions were great. Commissioner Johnson stated she 

wanted an amendment prohibiting dilapidated signs and requiring removal of closed business signs. 
There was brief discussion regarding enforcement. Shepard suggested language could be added to the 
ordinance to encourage sign owners to seek funds to address those issues. City Planner Johnson 
suggested that language could be added to grant applications. There was brief discussion regarding 
non-conforming signs. City Planner Johnson noted that the City Council had not provided direction 
to revise the sign regulations, and reiterated that the primary purpose was to address administrative 
issues.  Umholtz noted that the Commission could request to the Council that the Commission make 
further revisions in the future. 

 
Umholtz made a motion, seconded by Lanyon, to accept the proposed updates to Sign Requirements 
and recommend it to City Council for approval. 

 
 The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
 Position #1 - Zandra Umholtz: Motion 

Position #6 - Nancy Lanyon: 2nd 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: Approve 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Approve 
Position #1 - Zandra Umholtz: Approve 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: Approve 
Position #6 - Nancy Lanyon: Approve 
 

 
10. NEW BUSINESS – None Scheduled 

 
  

11. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS & CONCERNS 
Start time: 06:55:46 PM (01:55:05) 
 
Zedrick commented that she knew it was the Commission’s duty, but it was never a warm and fuzzy 

feeling to make a denial. 
 
Lanyon thanked staff for their thoughtfulness regarding dark skies. Lanyon wondered about 
provisions regarding installation of bike racks. City Planner Johnson explained that private property 
owners could install bike racks on their property, but would need City approval for installation on 
public property. Shepard said that the Budget Committee approved funds for installation of about 5 
bikes, and some racks would be installed at the Anchor Street Park. Lanyon shared that she sent an 
email to staff suggesting that Commissioners have the ability to opt out of receiving printed packets.  
 
Olson shared that he was glad to be back after a two-month absence. 
 

avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:40:14
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:40:14
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:40:14
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:40:14
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:40:14
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:40:14
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:40:14
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:40:14
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@01:55:05


 

Rockaway Beach Planning Commission   Page 9 of 9 
Minutes – May 16, 2024 

Commissioner Johnson thanked Hassell for work on accessibility in Rockaway Beach, noting the 
Mobi Mats would be a great addition. She thanked City staff for work on the Anchor Street 
playground and stated it will be a great addition to the City. Johnson commented that Manzanita 
adopted a dark sky ordinance and wondered what was needed to recommend it to the City Council. 
Shepard explained that after updated Planning Commission ordinance was adopted, it could be 
addressed, and added that the Commission could also provide input through the Strategic Planning 
process. City Planner Johnson invited the Commission to share their ideas. 
 
Umholtz shared that she was excited for the new park. She noted that it feels like we are growing, but 
we are not a big city. She thanked all involved. 
 
Hassell concurred with the comments on the Anchor Street playground. 
 

 
12. ADJOURNMENT 

Start time: 07:01:50 PM (02:01:09) 
 
Olson made a motion, seconded by Umholtz, to adjourn the meeting at 7:01 p.m.  
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 

  
Position #3 - Pat Olson: Motion 
Position #1 - Zandra Umholtz: 2nd 
Position #2 - Stephanie Winchester: Approve 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: Approve 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Approve 
Position #1 - Zandra Umholtz: Approve 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: Approve 
Position #6 - Nancy Lanyon: Approve 
 
 

MINUTES APPROVED THE 
20TH DAY OF JUNE 2024 

 
         
              
         William Hassell, President  
 
 
ATTEST  
 
 
      
Melissa Thompson, City Recorder 

avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@02:01:09
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@02:01:22
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@02:01:22
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@02:01:22
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@02:01:22
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@02:01:22
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@02:01:22
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@02:01:22
avca:7aa90987-6374-4106-a6fe-b38bf3179252@02:01:22










 
 

CU #24-1  Page 1 of 7 
Staff Report 

CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 
PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION 
 
STAFF REPORT Case File #CU-24-1 

Date Filed: May 22, 2024 
Hearing Date: June 20, 2024 

 
APPLICANTS: Shannon and Alex Smith 
 
REQUEST: The Applicants are seeking approval for conditional use of 137 South Beacon Street.  The Applicants 
own the property on South Beacon Street which is zoned C1 – Commercial.  The Applicants seek to demolish the 
current residential structure and construct a new, two-story home on the property for residential use.  The Rockaway 
Beach Zoning Ordinance requires single-family dwellings to be permitted conditionally in the C1 zone. 
 

A. REPORT OF FACTS 
1. Property Location:  The property is 137 South Beacon Street, Rockaway Beach and is further identified 

on Tillamook County Assessor’s Map # 2N1032CC Lot #6300.   
2. Lot Size: approximately 2,502 square feet. 
3. Zoning Designation: C1 (Commercial Zoning). 
4. Surrounding Land Use: The subject property is surrounded by commercial space (former bank) to the 

North, and residential uses to the East, West, and South.   
5. Existing Structures: There is a single-story, residential building on this property, which the Applicants 

intend to demolish. 
6. Utilities: The following utilities serve the subject property: 

a. Sewer: City of Rockaway Beach 
b. Water: City of Rockaway Beach 
c. Electricity: Tillamook P.U.D. 

7. Development Constraints: The property is partially located in the AE flood zone. 
 

B. EVALUATION OF THE REQUEST 
1. General Description of the Proposal: The Applicants are requesting approval for conditional use of 137 

South Beacon Street, which is zoned C1 – Commercial.  The Applicants seek to demolish the current 
residence and construct a new, two-story home on the property for residential use.   

2. Background: Single-family dwelling units are allowed upon conditional approval in the C-1 zone.  
There are examples of other single-family dwelling units on the same block as this property, which are 
also located in the C-1 zone. 

3. Agency Comments: None. 
4. Ordinance Standards: The following ordinance standards apply to this request: 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

CU #24-1  Page 2 of 7 
Staff Report 

Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance 
 
Article 3. Use Zones. 
 

Section 3.050. Commercial Zone (C-1). 
1. Uses Permitted Outright: In a C-1 zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted outright: 

a. Retail activities. 
b. Services such as banks, barber and beauty shops, small repair shops, printing shops, laundries. 
c. Eating and drinking establishments. 
d. Amusement activities. 
e. Business and professional offices. 
f. Motels, hotels, and bed and breakfast. 
g. Churches or community meeting halls. 
h. Hospital, sanitarium, nursing home or rest home. 
i. Arts or craft studios. 
j. Public utility structure such as a substation. 
k. Parks and publicly owned recreation areas. 
l. Government or municipal structure. 
m. Home occupation (See Section 4.090). 
n. Private recreation uses such as tennis courts, and swimming pools or racquetball facility, when not 

in conjunction with another permitted use. 
o. Family day care center and day care center. 
p. Residential home. 
q. Residential facility. 
r. Signs in accordance with Section 4.050. 
s. Mobile Food Unit. 
t. A manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used during the construction of a permitted use 

for which a building permit has been issued, but not to exceed 6 months duration. 
u. Structural shoreline stabilization. 
v. Residential Use, limited to the second story or above, and no more than 50% of the ground floor, 

on the condition that a commercial use be located on at least 50% of the area of the ground floor 
2. Conditional Uses Permitted. In a C-1 zone, the following conditional uses and accessory uses are 

permitted: 
a. Service stations, car lots, lumber yards, mobile home dealerships, public or private parking 

facilities, boat dealers, farm equipment dealers, or similar uses which require large land areas. 
These uses are intended to be outside of the immediate downtown area (between N. 4th to S. 3rd, 
the oceanfront and Beacon Street) and located on U.S. Highway 101. The Planning Commission or 
City Council shall consider this when issuing conditional use permits. 

b. Cabinet or wood working shops, plumbing, heating, electrical, paint or other contractor storage, 
retail or sale shops. 

c. Second hand sales with all merchandise enclosed within a structure. 



 
 

CU #24-1  Page 3 of 7 
Staff Report 

d. Wholesale warehouse or storage establishments. 
e. Tire retreading, welding or machine shops. 
f. Single family dwellings including modular housing and manufactured homes, duplexes and 

multiple family dwellings. Manufactured homes shall be subject to the standards of Section 4.091. 
3. Standards. In a C-1 zone, the following standards shall apply: 

a. Building setbacks shall be governed by fire protection standards administered by the Building 
Official. 

b. Maximum building height shall be 45 feet, except that on the oceanfront from North Third Avenue 
to North Sixth Avenue the maximum building height shall be 20 feet. 

c. Where a 45 foot building height is permitted, the first story shall be a minimum of 12 feet in height 
as measured from grade and shall be designed to accommodate future potential commercial use. 

d. Multiple story buildings shall use architectural design features to differentiate the first story and 
the first story shall be designed to accommodate future potential commercial use. 

e. The height above grade of an overhang or awning shall be a minimum of 10 feet above the sidewalk 
grade and 12 feet above the street grade where no sidewalk exists. 

f. For commercial uses, permanent landscaping consisting of native vegetation is encouraged. 
Hardscape features such as benches, walkways, and outdoor seating areas shall be compliant with 
the American with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines. 

g. Where a commercial use abuts a residential zone, the commercial use shall provide a sight-
obscuring fence or hedge of at least 5 feet in height. Floodlights shall be shielded so as not to cast 
glare on an adjacent residential use. 

h. Storage of merchandise, waste disposal equipment, or similar material shall be screened from view. 
i. Automobile service stations shall have a minimum lot size of 10,000 square feet, with a minimum 

width of 100 feet. 
j. Commercial uses shall have permanent facilities, such as an office, which are connected to City 

services including water and sewer. 
 
Article 6.  Conditional Uses. 
 
Section 6.010. Authorization to Grant or Deny Conditional Uses 
 
Conditional uses listed in this ordinance may be permitted, enlarged, or otherwise altered upon authorization by the 
Planning Commission in accordance with the standards and procedures set forth in Section 6.010 through Section 
6.030. In the case of a use existing prior to the effective date of this ordinance and classified in this ordinance as a 
conditional use, any change in use or lot area or an alteration of structure shall conform with the requirements 
dealing with conditional uses. 
 
Section 6.020. Conditional Use Review Criteria 
 
Before a conditional use is approved, findings will be made that the use will comply with the following:  

1. The proposed use is consistent with the policies of the Comprehensive Plan;  



 
 

CU #24-1  Page 4 of 7 
Staff Report 

2. The location, size, design and operating characteristics of the proposed use are such that the development 
will have a minimum impact on surrounding properties. This standard is not applicable to multi-family 
dwellings, manufactured dwelling subdivisions and manufactured dwelling parks;  

3. The use will not generate excessive traffic when compared to the traffic generated by uses permitted outright 
and adjacent streets have the capacity to accommodate the traffic generated;  

4. Public facilities and services are adequate to accommodate the proposed use;  
5. The site's physical characteristics in terms of topography and soils is appropriate for the intended use; and  
6. The site has adequate area to accommodate the proposed use. The site layout has been designed to provide 

appropriate access points, on site drives, parking areas, loading areas, storage facilities, setbacks, buffers, 
utilities, or other facilities which are required by City ordinances or desired by the applicant.  

 
C. STAFF SUMMARY 

 
As outlined below, the Applicants have met the criteria for granting the variance request to construct a residential 
structure in the commercial zone.   
 

1. The proposed use is consistent with the policies of the Comprehensive Plan;  
 
FINDING: This criteria has been met.  The Comprehensive Plan outlines a need for additional residential 
housing.  Additionally, the Comprehensive Plan encourages local residents to develop small scale home 
occupations.  While the Applicants do not have current plans to use the property commercially, they are 
designing the home to fit the requirements of our commercial zone, by constructing the home so that the 
first story is a minimum of 12 feet in height to accommodate future potential commercial uses. 
 

2. The location, size, design and operating characteristics of the proposed use are such that the development 
will have a minimum impact on surrounding properties. This standard is not applicable to multi-family 
dwellings, manufactured dwelling subdivisions and manufactured dwelling parks;  
 
FINDING: This criteria has been met.  The property is surrounded by residential properties on the East, 
West and Southern sides.  To the North, there is commercial property, the former US Bank, which has 
entrances from Highway 101 and South Beacon.  The allowance of another single-family dwelling on South 
Beacon would be consistent with the other developed properties on this street and would have minimal 
impact on surrounding properties.    
 

3. The use will not generate excessive traffic when compared to the traffic generated by uses permitted outright 
and adjacent streets have the capacity to accommodate the traffic generated;  
 
FINDING: This criteria has been met.  In 1940, this property was developed with a residential single-
family dwelling.  The Applicants intend to demolish the current residential structure and are seeking 
conditional-use approval to construct a new two-story single-family dwelling in its place.  The new, 
residential dwelling would not create additional traffic than the previous home, nor would a residential 
dwelling create more traffic than typical commercial uses. 
 

4. Public facilities and services are adequate to accommodate the proposed use;  
 
FINDING: This criteria has been met.  This property is already serviced with City sewer and water services, 
which are adequate to meet the demand of the Applicant’s proposed single-family dwelling unit. 



 
 

CU #24-1  Page 5 of 7 
Staff Report 

 
5. The site's physical characteristics in terms of topography and soils is appropriate for the intended use; and  

 
FINDING: This criteria has been met.  The property’s topography and soils are appropriate for the intended 

use of developing a two-story, single-family dwelling. 
 

6. The site has adequate area to accommodate the proposed use. The site layout has been designed to provide 
appropriate access points, on site drives, parking areas, loading areas, storage facilities, setbacks, buffers, 
utilities, or other facilities which are required by City ordinances or desired by the applicant.  
 
FINDING: This criteria has been met.  As noted previously, the property has long been used as a residence.  
The Applicants seek to demolish the current residence and construct a new, two-story residence in the same 
footprint as the current building.  The site is already equipped with appropriate access, parking areas, and 
utilities.   

 
D. CONCLUSION 

 
If, after hearing the evidence at the hearing, the planning commission agrees that sufficient facts exist to grant the 
conditional use, they should direct staff to write findings based on the evidence to permit the conditional use. If 
they do not find that sufficient evidence exists to allow the conditional use, they should direct staff to write findings 
for denial of the conditional use.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

CU #24-1  Page 6 of 7 
Staff Report 

APPLICATION LOCATION: 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

CU #24-1  Page 7 of 7 
Staff Report 

SITE PLAN: 

 



 

City of Rockway Beach, Oregon 
276 S. Highway 101, PO Box 5 

Rockaway Beach, OR 97136 
(503) 374-1752 
www.corb.us  

#____-____ 

 
PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION 

 
APPLICANT INFORMATION: 

Project Contact Name:  Company:  

Mailing Address:  

Phone Number:  Email:  
 
PROPERTY OWNER INFORMATION: 

Name(s):    

Mailing Address:  

Phone Number:  Email:  
 
PROPERTY LOCATION: 

Map and Tax Lot(s):    

Subdivision Name:  

Land Use Zone(s):  

Consisting of  acres divided into  lots, proposed in  phases. 
 
Included with this application must be the information required in the Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, 
Article 10, Planned Unit Development. 

 

Applicant Signature:  Date:  

If the Applicant is other than the Property Owner, the Owner hereby grants authority for the Applicant to act on 
his/her/their behalf. 

 
Property Owner Signature(s): 

  
Date: 

 

 

 

 

 

SA and R1 with PUD overlay

March 4, 2024

March 4, 2024
Dean N. Alterman, attorney for applicant

Anna Song, for Nedonna Development, LLC 
 
 
** two phases instead of one.  The first phase would create the 13 lots east of Kittiwake Drive and a tract 
for a sewer pump station.  The second phase would create the 9 lots west of Kittiwake Drive. 

* The application is to split the remainder of the approved plan for the Nedonna Wave PUD into**
22 two*2.56

Nedonna Wave Phase 1 (10400 and 10500 will be Phase 2; TL 10200 will be Phase 3)

Tracts E and F, Nedonna Wave Phase 1
           Map 2N1020ABTL 10200, 10400, and 10500, 

kebsinc@yahoo.com (503) 706-1930

2848 SW Sam Jackson Park Road,   Portland, Oregon  97201

Nedonna Development, LLC (c/o Anna Song)

dean@alterman.law(503) 517-8201

805 SW Broadway, Suite 1580    Portland, Oregon 97205

Alterman Law Group PCDean N. Alterman

DocuSign Envelope ID: 063A31F9-6935-48A8-81BC-FD7C823A6F5A

http://www.corb.us/


CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH ZONING ORDINANCE 
 
Article 10. Planned Unit Development (PUD) 
 
Section 10.010. Intent. This article is intended to provide for developments incorporating a single type or variety 
of housing types and related uses which are planned and developed as a unit. Such developments may consist of 
individual lots as part of a larger holding or as common building sites. Commonly owned land which is an essential 
and major element of the plan should be related to and preserve the long-term value of the homes and other 
development. It is the intent of this section to foster a more innovative approach to land development than is possible 
under the traditional lot by lot methods. 
 
Section 10.020. Purpose. The purpose of this article is to provide a more desirable environment through the 
application of flexible and diversified land development standards following an overall comprehensive site 
development plan. 
 
Section 10.030. Permitted Buildings and Uses. The following buildings and uses may be permitted as hereinafter 
provided. Buildings and uses may be permitted either singly or in combination provided the overall density of the 
Planned Unit Development does not exceed the density of the parent zone as provided in this ordinance. 

1. Single-family dwellings including detached, attached, or semi-detached units, row houses, atrium or patio 
houses, provided each has its own separate plot. 

2. Duplexes and multiple-family dwellings. 
3. Accessory buildings and uses. 
4. Commercial uses only when supported mainly by the PUD and only when economic feasibility can be 

shown. 
5. Buildings or uses listed as permitted outright or conditionally in the parent zone on which the PUD is 

located. 
 
Section 10.040. Development Standards. 

1. Minimum Lot Size. Planned Unit Developments shall be established only on parcels of land which are 
suitable for the proposed development and are determined by the planning commission to be in keeping 
with the intent of this ordinance. (This says 'site size' in 143, not 'lot size')  

2. Open Spaces. In all residential developments, or in combination residential-commercial developments, 50% 
of the total area should be devoted to open space. Of this area, 25% of said open space may be utilized 
privately by individual owners or users of the PUD; however, 75% of this area should be common or shared 
open space. The Planning Commission may increase or decrease the open space requirement depending on 
the particular site and the needs of the development. In no case should the open space be less than 40% of 
the site. 

3. Density. The density of a planned development shall not exceed the density of the parent zone, except as 
more restrictive regulations may be prescribed as a condition of the PUD permit. When calculating density, 
the gross area is used (total area including street dedications). Areas of public uses may be included in 
calculating allowable density. 

4. Subdivision of Lot Sizes. Minimum area, width, depth, and frontage requirements for subdivision lots in a 
PUD may be less than the minimums set forth elsewhere in City ordinances, provided that the overall 
density is in conformance, and that lots conform to the approved preliminary development plan. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 063A31F9-6935-48A8-81BC-FD7C823A6F5A

https://corb.us/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/zoningRBZO_Amended_06102020.pdf


5. Off-Street Parking. Parking spaces shall conform to all provisions of this ordinance, except that the Planning 
Commission may authorize exceptions where warranted by unusual circumstances. 

6. Signs. All signs of any type within a PUD are subject to design review and approval of the Planning 
Commission. They shall consider each sign on its merits based on its aesthetic impact on the area, potential 
traffic hazards, potential violation of property and privacy rights of adjoining property owners, and need 
for said sign. 

7. Height Guidelines. The same restrictions shall prevail as permitted outright in the zone in which such 
development occurs, except that the Planning Commission may allow a variance of heights where it is 
determined that surrounding property will not be harmed. 

8. Streets and Roads. Necessary streets and roads within the PUD shall be dedicated to the public and 
constructed to City standards or shall be private roads maintained by an owner’s association and constructed 
to standards as determined by the Planning Commission and City Engineer. 

9. Dedication and Maintenance of Facilities. The Planning Commission, or on appeal, the City Council may, 
as a condition of approval for a PUD require that portions of the tract or tracts under consideration be set 
aside, improved, conveyed or dedicated to the following uses: 

a. Recreation Facilities: The Planning Commission may require that suitable area for parks or 
playgrounds be set aside, improved, or permanently reserved for the owners, residents, employees 
or patrons of the PUD. 

b. Common Area: Whenever common area is provided, the Planning Commission or City Council 
may require that an association of owners or tenants be created into a non-profit corporation under 
the laws of the State of Oregon, which shall adopt such Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws and 
adopt and impose such Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions on such common areas that are 
acceptable to the Planning Commission. Said association, if required, may undertake other 
functions. It shall be created in such a manner that owners of property shall automatically be 
members and shall be subject to assessments levied to maintain said common areas for the purposes 
intended. The period of existence of such association shall not be less than 20 years, and it shall 
continue thereafter and until a majority vote of the members shall terminate it. 

c. Easements: Easements necessary to the orderly extension of public utilities may be required as a 
condition of approval. 

10. Approvals. The Planning Commission shall submit the preliminary development plan to the Fire District, 
City Engineer, County Sanitarian, power company, and other utilities which will serve the PUD and shall 
consider their recommendations in regard to approval of the proposal. 
 

Section 10.050. Procedure - Preliminary Development Plan. 
1. The applicant shall submit four copies of the preliminary development plan to the Planning Commission 

prior to formal application for rezoning. Applications shall be accompanied by a fee prescribed in Section 
11.050 of this ordinance. This plan and any written statements shall contain at least the following 
information: 

a. Proposed land uses and densities. 
b. Location and approximate dimensions and heights of structures. 
c. Plan of open spaces or common spaces. 
d. Map showing existing features of site and topography. 
e. Proposed method of utilities service and drainage. 
f. Road and circulation plan including off-street parking. 
g. Relation of the proposed development to the surrounding area and the Comprehensive Plan. 
h. Lot layout. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 063A31F9-6935-48A8-81BC-FD7C823A6F5A



i. A schedule, if it is proposed that the final development plan will be executed in stages. 
2. The Planning Commission shall consider the preliminary development plan at a public meeting, at which 

time they shall determine whether the proposal conforms to City ordinances. In addition, in considering the 
plan, the Planning Commission shall seek to determine that: 

a. There are special physical conditions or objectives of development which the proposal will satisfy 
to warrant a departure from the standard ordinance requirements. 

b. Resulting development will not be inconsistent with the Comprehensive Plan provisions or zoning 
objectives of the area. 

c. The proposed development will be in substantial harmony with the surrounding area, including 
vegetation and topography and any important natural areas such as marshes or wildlife habitats. 

d. The plan can be completed within a reasonable period of time. 
e. Any proposed commercial development can be justified economically. 
f. The streets are adequate to support the anticipated traffic and the development will not overload 

the streets outside the planned area. 
g. Proposed utility and drainage facilities are adequate for the population densities and type of 

development proposed. 
3. The Planning Commission shall notify the applicant whether, in its opinion, the foregoing provisions have 

been satisfied and, if not, whether they can be satisfied with further plan revision. 
4. Following this preliminary meeting, the applicant may proceed with his/her request for approval of the 

planned development by filing an application for an amendment to this ordinance with the City Recorder. 
 
Section 10.060. Procedure - Final Approval. 

1. Within one year after concept approval or modified approval of a preliminary development plan, the 
applicant shall file a final plan for the entire development or, when submission in stages has been 
authorized, for the first unit of the PUD, with the Planning Commission. The final plan shall conform in all 
respects with the approved preliminary development plan. The final plan shall include all information 
included in the preliminary plan, plus the following: 

a. Contour map showing at least 2-foot intervals. 
b. Grading plan showing future contours if existing grade is to be changed more than two feet. 
c. Existing and proposed utility lines. 
d. Preliminary subdivision plan if property is to be subdivided. 
e. Location and dimensions of pedestrian ways, roads, malls, common open space, recreation area 

and parks. 
f. Location, dimensions, and arrangement of off-street parking including width of aisles, spaces, and 

other design criteria. 
g. Preliminary planting and landscaping plan. 
h. Preliminary architectural plans and elevations of typical structures. 
i. The applicant shall also submit drafts of appropriate deed restrictions or protective covenants to 

provide for the maintenance of common areas and to assure that the objectives of the PUD shall be 
followed. 

2. Upon receipt of the final development plan, the Planning Commission shall examine such plan and 
determine whether it conforms to all applicable criteria and standards and whether it conforms in all 
substantial respects to the previously approved preliminary development plan, or require such changes in 
the proposed development or impose such conditions of approval as are, in its judgment, necessary to insure 
conformity to the applicable criteria and standards. In so doing, the Planning Commission may permit the 
applicant to revise the plan and resubmit it as a final development plan within 30 days. 

 
Section 10.080. Adherence to Approved Plan and Modification Thereof. 

1. Building permits in a PUD shall be issued only on the basis of the approved plan. Any changes in the 
approved plan shall be submitted to the Planning Commission for processing as an amendment to this 
ordinance. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 063A31F9-6935-48A8-81BC-FD7C823A6F5A



2. A performance bond may be required, in an amount to be determined by the Planning Commission, to 
insure that a development proposal is completed as approved and within the time limits agreed to.  

3. The developer shall show to the satisfaction of the Planning Commission that the proposal will be carried 
out in such a way that no significant damage will be done to the lakes, streams, beaches or wetlands in the 
City. Special attention will be paid to the impact of the PUD on slide-prone hillsides to insure that the 
damage will not be caused to surrounding property. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 063A31F9-6935-48A8-81BC-FD7C823A6F5A



{00171143}  

 
 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

To:  City of Rockaway Beach 

 

From:  Dean N. Alterman 

  Alterman Law Group PC 

 

Date:  February 20, 2024 

 

Re:  Nedonna Wave Planned Unit Development – Phase 2 application 

  City file no. #SPUD 07-19 

  Our file no. 5701.001 

 

 I’m writing this memorandum to accompany the application of Nedonna Development 

LLC and its principal Anna Song to subdivide Tract F (Tax Lot 10400) and Tax Lot 10500 of 

Nedonna Wave Phase 1 to be Phase 2 of the planned unit development that the city approved in 

2008 in City File No. #SPUD 07-19.  Nedonna Development requests a modification of the prior 

approval to allow the applicant to develop Phase 2 in two sub-phases instead of in one phase. 

 

 Phase 2 will be a subdivision of Tract F, Nedonna Wave, and will include eleven lots east 

of Kittiwake Drive.   

 

 The applicant also owns Tract G of Nedonna Wave Phase 1.  Tract G is not part of this 

application and will continue to be reserved for future development.  The future Phase 3 will be a 

subdivision of Tract G, and will include nine lots west of Kittiwake Drive and south of the 

wetland and drainage area (Tract B) next to Lot 4 of Phase 1.   

 

I. History 

 

 On May 27, 2008 the city issued a final plan approval for the application of Nedonna 

Development, LLC and its principal Anna Song to build a 28-lot phased planned unit 

development (PUD) that extended Kittiwake Drive south to Riley Street.  The staff report 

indicates that the maximum allowed density at the time was 33 lots. 

 

 By final order dated September 15, 2008 and signed by Mayor Lisa M. Phipps on 

September 19, 2008, the city applied the PUD designation to the entire site, and approved 

Nedonna Development’s request to develop the PUD in two stages with up to 28 lots.  The first 

stage had 8 lots and three parcels.  The eight lots were numbered 1 to 8 on the plat.  They 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 2 

 

{00171143}  

corresponded to the lots numbered 1, 2, 3, 4, 20, 21, 22, and 23 on the plans submitted for the 

final plan approval.   

 

 Section 10.060 of the zoning code requires the applicant to file a “final plan for the entire 

development or, when submission in stages has been authorized, for the first unit of the PUD” 

within one year after the city approves a preliminary development plan.  The code does not set 

any time limit on when the applicant must apply for subsequent units or stages of the PUD. 

 

 In this case, the city approved the preliminary development plan in early 2008.  Nedonna 

Development applied for and received final approval for the first unit of the PUD within one year 

after it received final approval of the preliminary plan.    

 

 The applicant recorded the plat of Nedonna Wave Phase 1 on February 2, 2009 as Plat C-

573, Tillamook County Plat Records.  The plat included dedications of Kittiwake Drive, Song 

Street, Duke Street, Riley Street, and Jackson Street.  In addition to the eight numbered lots, the 

plat included common area as Tracts A, B, and D, and areas for potential future development as 

Tracts C, E, F, and G.  

 

 Nedonna Development built Kittiwake Drive, Song Street, Duke Street, and the portion 

of Riley Street from Kittiwake Drive west to Chieftain Drive.  Only Song Street, Duke Street, 

and the north 150 feet of Kittiwake Drive were required to provide public street access to the 

eight lots in Phase 1.  Riley Drive and the south 450 feet of Kittiwake Drive were to provide 

street access to the lots in Phase 2 when subdivided and platted. 

 

 Nedonna Development suspended the project during the recession, before Nedonna 

Development was ready to build Phase 2, though it had constructed most of the public 

improvements for Phase 2 in accordance with plans that the city engineer approved on July 22, 

2008.  

 

II. Application to plat Phase 2 with three modifications 

 

 Nedonna Development is now ready to plat Phase 2.  Nedonna Development asks for one 

modification to the approved final plan, which is to plat Phase 2 in two separate pieces.  Phase 2 

would be the eleven lots east of Kittiwake Drive, which would be numbered from 9 to 19 and 

would be taken from what is now Tract F.  Phase 3 would be the nine lots west of Kittiwake 

Drive, which would be numbered from 20 to 28.  The number and location of the lots would 

conform to the final plan approval that the city issued in 2008. 

 

 The applicant requests three modifications to the PUD approval as part of the Phase 2 

request: 

 

 1. Create two lots instead of one lot at the north end of Jackson Street, out of the lot 

that was numbered as Lot 24 on the approved plan.  The two proposed lots are numbered as 21 

and 22 on the plan submitted with this application. 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 3 

 

{00171143}  

 

 2. Create four lots instead of three lots out of the lots numbered as 14, 15, and 16 on 

the approved plan, at the northeast corner of Kittiwake Drive and Riley Street.  The four 

proposed lots are numbered as 13, 14, 15, and 16 on the plan submitted with this application. 

 

 3. Provide that when the owner of the land to the south extends Jackson Street south 

into that property, the city will vacate the east stub of Riley Street so that Riley Street will 

terminate in a T intersection with Jackson Street, and the vacated stub can be combined with 

Tract E  to form an additional building lot. 

 

 If the city grants all three modifications then the total number of lots in Nedonna Wave 

would increase beyond the 28 lots originally approved, but not beyond the limit of 33 that the 

city identified as applicable in the original PUD approval. 

 

 Rockaway Beach regulates PUDs through Article 10 of the zoning code.  Because the 

city has already issued its final approval of the final development plan under Section 10.060 and 

has approved the entire project as a 28-lot PUD , the only current questions are whether the city 

will allow Nedonna Development, LLC to plat the remaining lots in two phases instead of in one 

phase, and whether the city will allow a small increase in the number of lots in Nedonna Wave. 

 

 

III. General Standards for Subdivisions 

 

 The following general standards in the Rockaway Beach Subdivision Ordinance apply: 

 

SECTION 5 
Procedure For Review 

 
 (1) Prior to the filing of a tentative plan, a subdivider shall submit to the City 
Recorder plans and other information concerning a proposed or contemplated 
development. The City Recorder shall then, within thirty-five (35) days, schedule a 
conference with the subdivider, City Engineer, and City Planner on such plans and other 
data, and make recommendations to the subdivider as shall seem proper regarding such 
plans or other data, and shall recommend consultation by the subdivider with other 
public or private agencies as may be disclosed by the plans to be interested. This 
subdivision conference is an optional procedure which may be elected by the subdivider 
and is not required by this ordinance.  
 (2) The applicant shall submit ten (10) copies of a tentative plan, a 
completed application form and a fee as required by Section 49. The tentative plan shall 
follow the format outlined in Sections 6 and 7.  
 (3) The City shall review the submitted tentative plan to determine whether 
the application is complete. If the application is complete, a public hearing before the 
Planning Commission shall be scheduled. If the application is incomplete, the applicant 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 4 

 

{00171143}  

will be informed of the additional information that is required. Upon submission of that 
information, a public hearing will be scheduled.  
 (4) Public notice shall be mailed to property owners within 200 feet of the 
boundary of the proposed subdivision. The content of the public notice shall be in 
accordance with Section 11.040(1) of the Zoning Ordinance.  
 (5) The City Recorder shall transmit one (1) copy of the tentative subdivision 
plan to the City Engineer, all affected special districts and any county, state or federal 
agency that may have an interest in the proposed subdivision. Written comments will be 
incorporated into the record of the public hearing.  
 (6) The City Recorder shall notify the subdivider of the requirement to file a 
statement of water rights and if a water rights is appurtenant, a copy of the 
acknowledgment from the Water Resources Department must be attached before the 
county recording officer may accept the plat of the subdivision for recording pursuant to 
ORS 92.120.  
 (7) The Planning Commission shall hold a public hearing on the tentative 
subdivision plan in accordance with Section 11.060 of the Zoning Ordinance.  
 (8) The Planning Commission shall make a decision on the tentative 
subdivision plan in accordance with Section 11.060 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

 Response: As Rockaway Beach has already approved the overall plan for Nedonna 

Wave, the applicant is submitting 10 copies of the plan for the proposed Phase 2 of the 

subdivision that reflect the first two requested modifications.  The applicant is also submitting 

the application form and the application fee.  The applicant acknowledges being informed of the 

requirement to file a statement of water rights.  No water rights are known to be appurtenant to 

the property. 

 

 

SECTION 9 
Information Statement 

 
The statement to accompany the tentative plan shall contain the following information: 

• A general explanation of the improvements and public utilities, including water 
supply and sewage disposal proposed to be installed. 

• Deviations from subdivision ordinance, if any. 

• Public areas proposed, if any. 

• A preliminary draft of restrictive covenants proposed, if any. 
 

 Improvements and public utilities:   The applicant has already dedicated and 

constructed most of the public streets and public utilities for the subdivision in accordance with 

the approval of the Nedonna Wave PUD.  The applicant will extend public water and sewer lines 

to the property to serve each of the lots.   As part of the approval, the applicant will construct the 

remaining portion of Riley Street and the stub of Jackson Court.   



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 5 

 

{00171143}  

 

 Deviations from the subdivision ordinance:  Except for the deviations that the city 

approved in 2008 to allow Nedonna Wave to develop the property as a PUD, the applicant 

proposes no deviations from the subdivision ordinance. 

 

 Public areas proposed:   As part of Phase 1 of the PUD, Nedonna Development 

imposed covenants on Tracts A, B, and D to reserve them as common area and open space for 

the Nedonna Wave subdivision.  The proposed subdivision of Tract F in accordance with the 

prior approval will allocate about half of Tract F to the individual lots and the other half as 

common area and open space for the subdivision.  Nedonna Development has already dedicated 

all public streets required for all phases of the PUD and has built all streets except for Jackson 

Street and the east portion of Riley Street.  

 

 Restrictive covenants proposed:   The applicant proposes to apply substantially the 

same covenants to Phases 2 and 3 as the applicant applied to Phase 1.   

 

 

SECTION 10 
Supplemental Proposals with Tentative Plan 

 
Any of the following may be required to [sic] the Planning Commission to supplement the 
plan of a subdivision. 
 
 (1) Approximate center line profiles with extensions for a reasonable 
distance beyond the limits of the proposed subdivision showing the finished grade of 
streets and the nature and extent of street construction.  
 (2) A plan for domestic water supply lines and related water service facilities.  
 (3) Proposals for sewage disposal, storm water drainage and flood control, 
including profiles of proposed drainageways.  
 (4) If lot areas are to be graded, a plan showing the nature of the cuts and 
fills and information on the character of the soil.  
 (5) Proposals for other improvements such as electric utilities and sidewalks.  
 (6) Site investigations as required by the Hazards Overlay Zone provisions of 
the Zoning Ordinance. Where such an investigation indicates the potential for erosion, 
an erosion control plan shall also be submitted.  

(7) If an area is to be graded, a plan showing the nature of the cuts and fills and 
evidence provided in a site investigation that such a grading will be stable. 

 

 Response: The finished grades of the streets were approved as part of the initial PUD, 

including the extension of Riley Street beyond the limits of the subdivision to connect to the 

west.  The applicant built that extension in 2008 or 2009 and the city accepted it as a public 

street.  No other streets extend to connect to any other property.  Domestic water lines have been 

installed.  Sewage disposal has been provided in accordance with the construction plan that the 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 6 

 

{00171143}  

City Engineer approved on July 22, 2008.  No substantial grading is proposed. 
 

 
SECTION 11 

Procedure For Review 
 

(1) Within one (1) year after approval of the preliminary plat, or such 
extension as may have been granted by the City, the subdivider shall cause the 
proposed subdivision, or any part thereof to be surveyed and a plat thereof prepared in 
conformance with the preliminary plat as approved or conditionally approved.  

An original reproducible drawing and five (5) blueline or blackline prints of the 
plat shall be submitted to the City. The tracing and prints are in addition to those 
required by Oregon Statutes.  

The final plat shall conform to the requirements of Section 12 - 15.  
No subdivider shall submit a plat of a subdivision for record, until all the 

requirements of ORS 209.250 and the plat requirements of the subdivision have been 
met.  

(2) The City Recorder shall forward a copy of the plat and other data 
submitted to the City Engineer who shall examine it to determine that the subdivision as 
shown is substantially the same as it appeared on the tentative plan, as approved; that 
all provisions of the law and this ordinance applicable at the time of approval of the 
tentative plan have been complied with; and that the plan is technically correct.  

The City Engineer may make checks in the field as he may desire to verify that 
the map is sufficiently correct on the ground and he may enter the property for this 
purpose.  

If the City Engineer determines that full conformity has not been made, the City 
shall advise the subdivider of the changes or additions that must be made for these 
purposes, and shall afford the subdivider an opportunity to make the changes or 
additions. If the City Engineer determines that full conformity has been made, he shall 
so certify on the plat and shall transmit the plat to the City for further review.  

(3)  The Planning Commission shall review the final plat to determine that it 
conforms with the preliminary plat and with changes permitted and all requirements 
imposed as a condition of its acceptance.  

If the Planning Commission determines that the plat submitted does not 
conform to the tentative plan or applicable conditions, the subdivider shall be afforded 
an opportunity to make corrections.  

(4) Prior to the approval of the final plat by the Planning Commission, the 
subdivider shall complete improvements as proposed or enter into an agreement for 
improvements together with a bond, pursuant to the provisions of Sections 21 & 22.  

(5) If the final plat conforms to the preliminary plat and applicable conditions 
have been met, the Chairman of the Planning Commission shall sign and date the final 
plat.  



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 7 

 

{00171143}  

(6) The applicant shall deliver the final plat to the County Surveyor for review 
according to the requirements of ORS 92.  Approval of the plat shall be null and void if 
the plat is not recorded within 90 days after the date the last required approving 
signature has been obtained. 

 

 Response: Nedonna Development will construct the few remaining improvements in 

conformance to the approved PUD plan and the tentative subdivision plan when approved, prepare 

and submit a final plat, and provide a bond or other assurance upon approval that the improvements 

will be constructed.   

 

(7) The subdivision is considered complete after the final plat is recorded by 
the County Clerk.  

 

 Response: The applicant will record the final plat with the County Clerk in 

conformance to this standard. 

 
 

SECTION 32 
Principles of Acceptability 

 
A land division whether by a subdivision, creation of a street, or a partitioning, shall 
conform to any development plans, shall take into consideration any preliminary plans 
made in anticipation thereof, and shall conform to the design standards established by 
this ordinance.  The City Engineer shall prepare and submit to the City Council 
specifications to supplement the standards of this ordinance, based on standard 
engineering practices, concerning streets, drainage facilities, sidewalks, sewer and water 
systems. 

 
 
 Response: The proposed subdivision conforms to all design standards in the land 

division ordinance.  The tract to be subdivided, now known as Tract F of Nedonna Wave, was 

laid out with the intention that eleven lots would eventually be created by further subdividing it.  

The proposal conforms to the plans that the city has already approved. 

 
 

SECTION 33 
Streets 

 

 (1) The location, width and grade of streets shall be considered in their 
relation to existing and planned streets, to topographical conditions, to public 
convenience and safety, and to the proposed use of land to be served by the streets. The 
street system shall assure an adequate traffic circulation system with intersection angles, 
grades, tangents and curves appropriate for the traffic to be carried considering the 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 8 

 

{00171143}  

terrain. Where location is not shown in a development plan, the arrangement of streets 
shall either: 

 

 a. Provide for the continuation or appropriate projection of existing principal 
streets in surrounding areas; or 

 

 b. Conform to a plan for the neighborhood approved or adopted by the 
Planning Commission to meet a particular situation where topographical or other 
conditions make continuance or conformance to existing streets impractical. 

 

 Response: The applicant provided for the continuation of Kittiwake Drive from its 

prior terminus south to Riley Street, and for the connection of Riley Street to the land to the west.  

The applicant has built Kittiwake Drive and Riley Street west from Kittiwake Drive.  The streets 

have already been dedicated in conformance to the plan that the City approved before the applicant 

developed Phase 1.  The proposal complies with this standard.   

 

 

 (2) Street Widths.   Street widths shall conform with City standards, except 
where it can be shown by the land divider, to the satisfaction of the Planning Commission, 
that the topography or the small number of lots or parcels served and the probable future 
traffic development are such as to unquestionably justify a narrower width. Increased 
widths may be required where streets are to serve commercial property, or where 
probable traffic conditions warrant. Approval or determination of street and area 
classification shall be made by the Planning Commission taking into consideration the 
zoning designations imposed by the Comprehensive Plan and the Development Code, the 
present use and development of the property in the area, the logical and reasonable 
prospective development of the area based upon public needs and trends, and the public 
safety and welfare. 

 

 Response: The applicant has built Kittiwake Drive and the west portion of Riley Street 

to City standards.  The application will construct Jackson Street and the east portion of Riley Street 

to City standards. 

 

 

 (3) Alignment.  As far as is practical, streets other than minor streets shall be 
in alignment with existing streets by continuations of the center lines thereof. Staggered 
street alignment resulting in “T” intersections shall, wherever practical, leave a minimum 
distance of 200 feet between the center lines of streets having approximately the same 
direction, and in no case, shall be less than 150 feet. 

 

 Response: The applicant proposes no change to the existing and approved street 

pattern.   

 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 9 

 

{00171143}  

 

 (4) Future Street Extension.   Where necessary to give access to, or permit a 
satisfactory future division of adjoining land, streets shall extend to the boundary of the 
subdivision or partition, and the resulting dead-end streets may be approved without a 
turn-around. Reserve strips including street plugs may be required to preserve the 
objectives of street extensions. 

 

 Response: All adjoining land has already been subdivided.  The railroad blocks any 

potential extension of Riley Street to the east of Phase 2.  No adjoining land requires a street 

extension through this subdivision.  The proposal complies with this standard. 

 

 

 (5) Intersection Angles.  Streets shall intersect at angles as practical except 
where topography requires a lesser angle, 1 but in no case shall the acute angle be less 
than 60 degrees unless there is a special intersection design.  An arterial or collector street 
intersecting with another street shall have at least 100 feet of tangent adjacent to the 
intersection unless topography requires a lesser distance.  Other streets, except alleys, 
shall have at least 50 feet of tangent adjacent to the intersection unless topography 
requires a lesser distance.  Intersections which contain an acute angle of less than 80 
degrees or which include an arterial street shall have a minimum corner radius sufficient 
to allow for a roadway radius of 20 feet and maintain a uniform width between the 
roadway and the right-of-way line. Ordinarily, the intersection of more than two streets 
at any one point will not be approved. 

 

 Response: The existing streets conform to this standard.  The applicant does not 

propose any new streets.   

 

 (6) Existing Streets.   Whenever existing streets adjacent to or within a tract 
are of adequate width, additional right-of-way shall be provided at the time of the land 
division. 

 

 Response: The existing streets are all of the width that the city approved for this PUD.  

The applicant previously dedicated land to widen Riley Street to city standards.  

 

 

 (7) Reserved Strips.   No reserved strips controlling the access to public ways 
will be approved unless the strips are necessary for the protection of the public welfare, 
and in these cases they may be required. The control and disposal of the land comprising 
the strips shall be placed within the jurisdiction of the City under conditions approved by 
the Planning Commission. 

 
1 This text is from the city’s website.  It was likely intended to read “Streets shall intersect at angles as near to right 

angles as practical except where topography requires a lesser angle ….” 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 10 

 

{00171143}  

 

 Response: The proposed subdivision will not extend any public streets to undeveloped 

adjoining parcels and no reserved strips are necessary. 

 

 

 (8) Half Streets.   Half streets shall be prohibited except they may be approved 
where essential to the reasonable development of the subdivision or partitions when in 
conformity with the other requirements of these regulations, and when the Planning 
Commission finds it will be practical to require the dedication of the other half when the 
adjoining property is divided.  Whenever a half street is adjacent to a tract to be divided, 
the other half of the street shall be platted within the tract. Reserve strips may be 
required to preserve the objectives of half streets. 

 

 Response: No half-street is necessary or proposed.  No half-street is adjacent to the 

property. 

 

 

 (9) Cul-de-Sac.  A cul-de-sac shall be as short as possible and shall have a 
maximum length of four hundred feet (400’) and serve building sites for not more than 
eighteen (18) dwelling units. A cul-de-sac shall terminate with a circular turnaround. 

 

 Response: Riley Street and Jackson Street are essentially a cul-de-sac to serve six lots.  

They do not terminate in a circular turnaround.  They do serve as a hammerhead turnaround and 

were approved by the city as part of the PUD.  When the Nedonna Estates property to the south is 

developed, a second connection to Riley Street can be provided on that property to reduce the cul-

de-sac and the stub of Riley Street in front of Tract E will no longer be needed as a turnaround.   

 

 

 (10) Alleys.    When any lots or parcels are proposed for commercial or industrial 
usage, alleys at least 20 feet in width may be required at the rear thereof with adequate 
ingress and egress for truck traffic unless alternative commitments for off-street service 
truck facilities without alleys are approved. Intersecting alleys shall not be permitted. 

 

 Response: No commercial or industrial usage is proposed.  No alleys are proposed. 

This standard does not apply to this subdivision. 

 

 

 (11) Grades and Curves.   Grades shall not exceed 6% on arterials, 10% on 
collector streets, or 12% on other streets. Center line radii of curves shall not be less than 
300 feet on major arterials, 200 feet on secondary arterials, or 100 feet on other streets, 
and shall be to an even 10 feet.  Where existing conditions, particularly the topography, 
make it otherwise impractical to provide buildable sites, the Planning Commission may 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 11 

 

{00171143}  

accept steeper grades and sharper curves. In flat areas, allowance shall be made for 
finished street grades having a minimum slope, preferably, of at least .5%. 

 

 Response: The platted streets are essentially flat.  No grade exceeds 6% .  No road 

curve has a radius of less than 100 feet.   

 

 

 (12) Marginal Access Streets.  Where a land division abuts or contains an 
existing or proposed arterial street, the Planning Commission may require marginal 
access streets, reverse frontage lots with suitable depth, screen planting contained in a 
nonaccess reservation along the rear or side property line, or other treatment necessary 
for adequate protection of residential properties and to afford separation of through and 
local traffic. 

 

 Response: The property does not abut or contain an existing or proposed arterial street.  

This standard does not apply to this proposal. 

 

 (13) Street Names.  All street names shall be approved by the Planning 
Commission for conformance with established pattern and to avoid duplication and 
confusion. 

 

Response: The city has already approved the existing street names.  No new streets or 

street names are proposed.   
 

 

 (14) Private Streets.   The design and improvement of any private street shall 
be subject to all requirements prescribed by this ordinance for public streets. The land 
divider shall provide for the permanent maintenance of any street required for access to 
property in a private street subdivision or major partition. 

 

 Response: The applicant has already dedicated all required streets as public streets.  

The applicant does not propose to build any private streets and this standard does not apply to this 

application. 
 
 

SECTION 34 
Utility Easements 

 
Easements for sewer, drainage, water mains, public utility installations, including 
overhead or underground systems, and other like public purposes, shall be dedicated, 
reserved or granted by the land divider in widths not less than five feet (5’) on each side 
of the rear lot or parcel lines, alongside lot or parcel lines and in planting strips wherever 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 12 

 

{00171143}  

necessary, provided that easements of [lesser]2 width, such as for anchorage, may be 
allowed when the purposes of easements may be accomplished by easements of lesser 
width as approved by the City. 

 
 Response: Nedonnna Development dedicated 5-foot easements along the public streets 

when it platted Phase 1.  The plat of Phase 1 does not indicate any easements along the side and 

rear lot lines of the individual lots, possibly because the open space (including wetlands) is at the 

rear of most of the lots.  In this instance Nedonna Development suggests that utility easements 

along the side and rear lot lines would serve no purpose and the requirement should be waived.   
 
 

SECTION 35 
Building Sites 

 
 (1) Size and Shape.   The size, width, shape and orientation of building sites 
shall be consistent with the residential lot size provisions of the Development Code with 
the following exceptions: 
 
 (a) In areas that will not be served by a public sewer, minimum lot and parcel 
sized shall permit compliance with the requirements of the Department of Environmental 
Quality and shall take into consideration problems of sewage disposal, particularly 
problems of soil structure and water table as related to sewage disposal by septic tank. 

 

 Response: The lots will be served by a public sewer.  This standard applies only to lots 

that will not be served by a public sewer and does not apply to the plat. 
 

 

 (b) Where property is zoned and planned for business or industrial use, other 
widths and areas may be permitted at the discretion of the Planning Commission. Depth 
and width of properties reserved or laid out for commercial and industrial purposes shall 
be adequate to provide for the off-street service and parking facilities required by the 
type of use and development contemplated. 

 
 Response: The property is zoned for residential use, not for business or industrial use.  

This standard does not apply to the plat. 
 
 

 (2) Access.   Each lot and parcel shall abut upon a street other than an alley 
for a width of at least 25 feet. 

 

 
2 This word appears to have been inadvertently omitted from the code. 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 13 

 

{00171143}  

 Response: Each lot and parcel abuts on a street other than an alley for a width of at 

least 25 feet.  The plat complies with this standard. 
 
 

 (3) Through Lots and Parcels.  Through lots and parcels shall be avoided except 
where they are essential to provide separation of residential development from major 
traffic arteries or adjacent non-residential activities or to overcome specific 
disadvantages or topography orientation. A planting screen easement at least ten (10) 
feet wide and across which there shall be no right of access may be required along the 
line of building sites abutting such a traffic artery or other incompatible use. 

 
 Response: The plat has no through lots and no through parcels.  The plat complies with 

this standard. 
 
 

 (4) Lot and Parcel Side Lines.  The lines of lots and parcels, as far as is 
practicable, shall run at right angles to the street upon which they face, except that on 
curved streets they shall be radial to the curve. 

 
 Response: Ten of the eleven lots in Phase 2 as originally approved comply with this 

standard.  The exception is the lot at the north end of Jackson Street, which in the approved plan 

fronts on the end of Jackson Street and runs east to the railroad track.  It has no other practicable 

layout.   

 

 Twelve of the fourteen lots in Phase 2 as modified comply with this standard.  The applicant 

requests to modify the approved plan to make two lots out of the one lot at the north end of Jackson 

Street, each of which will front on the end of Jackson Street.  Those two lots have no other 

reasonable layout that would not impinge on the wetlands.  The plat complies with this standard 

as far as practicable. 

 

SECTION 36 
Blocks 

 
 (1) General.   The length, width and shape of blocks shall take into account the 
need for adequate building site size and street width and shall recognize the limitations 
of the topography. 

 

 Response: Tract F includes some wetlands areas that restricted how Nedonna 

Development could lay out the PUD.  The location of the wetlands made it impracticable to lay 

out short cul-de-sacs east of Kittiwake Drive similar to how Song Street was laid out in Phase 1.  

The eleven building lots in Phase 2 as originally approved, and the fourteen lots in Phase 2 as 

proposed to be modified, were laid out to minimize disturbance of the wetlands.  The plat complies 

with this standard. 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 14 

 

{00171143}  

 
 

 (2) Size.   No block shall be more than 1,000 feet in length between street 
corner lines unless it is adjacent to an arterial street or unless the topography or the 
location of adjoining streets justifies an exception. The recommended minimum length of 
blocks along an arterial street is 1,800 feet.  A block shall have sufficient width to provide 
for two tiers of building sites unless topography or the location of adjoining streets 
justifies an exception. 

 

 Response: No new streets are proposed.  Kittiwake Drive is approximately 600 feet 

long from Song Street to Riley Street.  The area that would ordinarily provide a second tier of lots 

between Kittiwake Drive and Jackson Street is wide enough to provide for two tiers of lots, bit it 

includes a substantial wetland that will remain as open space.  The plat complies with this standard. 

 
 (3) Walkways.  The subdivider may be required to dedicate and improve ten 
(10) foot walkways across blocks over 600 feet in length or to provide access to school, 
park, or other public areas. 
 

 Response: Kittiwake Drive is about 600 feet long from Song Street to Riley Street.  

Jackson Street is less than 200 feet long.  A walkway from the north end of Jackson Street to the 

midpoint of the Kittiwake Drive block would have to cross the protected wetlands and would not 

shorten the walking distance from Phase 2 to the beach.  The City should not require a walkway 

through the wetlands. 

 

 
SECTION 37 

Large Building Sites 
 
In dividing tracts into large lots or parcels which at some future time are likely to be 
redivided, the Planning Commission may require that the blocks be of such size and shape, 
be so divided into building sites and contain such site restrictions as will provide for 
extension and opening of streets at intervals which will permit a subsequent division of 
any tract into parcels of smaller size. 

 
 Response: The only large parcel proposed is the wetland in the center of what is now 

Tract F.  The wetland area will serve as the required permanent open space for Phase 2 of the PUD 

and is not intended to be redivided. 
 
 

SECTION 38 
Water Courses 

 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 15 

 

{00171143}  

The land divider shall, subject to riparian rights, dedicate a right-of-way for storm 
drainage purposes, conforming substantially with the lines of any natural water course or 
channel, stream or creek that traverses the subdivision or partitions, or, at the option of 
the land divider, provide, by dedication, further and sufficient easements or construction, 
or both to dispose of the surface and storm waters. 

 
 Response: In Phase 1, Nedonna Development declared an easement for storm 

drainage over Tracts A, B, and D.  Nedonna Development will declare a similar easement for 

storm drainage over the common area wetland that is now part of Tract F.  The plat complies 

with this standard. 
 
 

SECTION 39 
Land For Public Purposes 

 
 (1) The Planning Commission may require the reservation for public 
acquisition, at a cost not to exceed acreage values in the area prior to subdivision, or 
appropriate areas within the subdivision for a period not to exceed one year providing 
the City has an interest or has been advised of interest on the part of the State Highway 
Commission, school district or other public agency to acquire a portion of the area within 
the proposed subdivision for a public purpose, including substantial assurance that 
positive steps will be taken in the reasonable future for acquisition. 
 

 Response: The applicant is not aware of any public body that wishes to acquire land in 

the subdivision for a public purpose. 
 
 

 (2) The Planning Commission may require the dedication of suitable areas for 
the parks and playgrounds that will be required for the use of the population which is 
intended to occupy the subdivision. 

 
 Response: The property in Phase 2 is a five-minute walk from the public beach, which 

is akin to “the parks and playgrounds” required for the use of the residents of Phase 2.  The property 

is adequately served by land for outdoor recreation, and complies with this standard without any 

dedication of additional parkland. 
 

SECTION 40 
Unsuitable Land 

 
The Planning Commission may refuse to approve a subdivision or partition when the only 
practical use which can be made of the property proposed to be subdivided or partitioned 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 16 

 

{00171143}  

is a use prohibited by this code or law, or, if the property is deemed unhealthful or unfit 
for human habitation or occupancy by the county or state health authorities. 

 
 Response: The property can practicably be put to residential use, which this code 

allows and which Rockaway Beach has approved.  No county or state authority has declared the 

property or the general area unfit for human habitation, and in fact many of the nearby parcels are 

in residential use.  The plat complies with this standard. 
 

SECTION 41 
Land Subject to Inundation 

 
If any portion of land proposed for development is subject to overflow, inundation or 
flood hazard by, or collection of, storm waters, an adequate system of storm drains, 
levees, dikes and pumping systems shall be provided. 

 
 Response: As part of developing Phase 1, the applicant installed storm drain culverts 

from the wetland area under Kittiwake Drive to Tract B and thence to McMillan Creek to 

provide storm drainage from Tract F.  The applicant believes the existing wetland and drainage 

facility to be adequate.  The plat complies with this standard. 

 
SECTION 42 

Proposed Name of Subdivision 
 
No tentative subdivision plat or subdivision plan or subdivision shall be approved which 
bears a name approved by the County Surveyor or County Assessor, which is the same as 
[or] similar to or pronounced the same as the name of any other subdivision in Tillamook 
County unless the land platted is contiguous to and platted by the same party that platted 
the subdivision bearing that name, or unless the party files and records the consent of the 
party that platted the contiguous subdivision bearing that name. All subdivision plats 
must continue the lot numbers and, if used, the block numbers of the subdivision plat of 
the same name last filed. 

 
 Response: The property is already part of the Nedonna Wave subdivision and is 

being platted by the same party that platted Phase 1.  The final plat of Phase 2 will continue the 

lot numbers from Phase 1, starting with Lot 10.3   

 

IV. Specific standards for planned unit developments 

 

 Rockaway Beach regulates planned unit developments (PUDs) in Article 10 of the city 

zoning ordinance.  Here are the relevant standards and the applicant’s response. 

 
3 The proposed plat submitted with this application numbers the lots from 1 upward.  The lots will be renumbered on 

the final plat to conform to this standard. 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 17 

 

{00171143}  

 

Section 10.030. Permitted Buildings and Uses.   The following buildings and uses may be 
permitted as hereinafter provided. Buildings and uses may be permitted either singly or 
in combination provided the overall density of the Planned Unit Development does not 
exceed the density of the parent zone as provided in this ordinance.  
 1. Single-family dwellings including detached, attached, or semi-detached units, 
row houses, atrium or patio houses, provided each has its own separate plot.  
 2. Duplexes and multiple-family dwellings.  
 3. Accessory buildings and uses.  
 4. Commercial uses only when supported mainly by the PUD and only when 
economic feasibility can be shown.  
 5. Buildings or uses listed as permitted outright or conditionally in the parent 
zone on which the PUD is located.  

  

 Response:    The proposed lots will be for detached single-family dwellings, and related 

accessory buildings such as garages and storage sheds.  Subsections 1 and 3 permit these uses.  

The application complies with this standard. 

 

 

Section 10.040. Development Standards.  
 
 (1)  Minimum Lot Size.   Planned Unit Developments shall be established only 
on parcels of land which are suitable for the proposed development and are determined 
by the planning commission to be in keeping with the intent of this ordinance.  (This 
says ‘site size’ in 143, not ‘lot size’) 

 

 Response:    Rockaway Beach has already approved this parcel of land as suitable for the 

proposed development of a residential PUD in keeping with the intent of the zoning ordinance.  

The proposed modifications do not substantially change the nature and character of Nedonna 

Wave.  The parcel is suitable for the proposed development, and the application complies with 

this standard. 
 

 

 (2)  Open Spaces.    In all residential developments, or in combination 
residential-commercial developments, 50% of the total area should be devoted to open 
space. Of this area, 25% of said open space may be utilized privately by individual 
owners or users of the PUD; however, 75% of this area should be common or shared 
open space. The Planning Commission may increase or decrease the open space 
requirement depending on the particular site and the needs of the development. In no 
case should the open space be less than 40% of the site.  

 

 Response:  Nedonna Wave Phase 1 included common area as Tract A, Tract B, and Tract 

D, all of which is open space.  The eight numbered lots and Tract C in Phase 1 totaled 35,028 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 18 

 

{00171143}  

square feet according to the plat.  The three common area tracts totaled 65,528 square feet, which 

is 65.16% of the total area of 100,556 square feet in Phase 1.  Phase 1 provided a surplus of 

common open space. 

 

 The 22 lots in Phase 2 and the proposed Phase 3 total 69,840 square feet.  The common 

open space in Phases 2 and 3 consists of the remainder of Tract F (75,358 SF) and Tract G 

(71,859 SF) minus the portion allocated to the 22 proposed building lots (71,859 SF) and Tract E 

(2,019 SF), which yields 37,476 SF.  Phases 1, 2, and 3 together contain 106,887 square feet in 

numbered lots plus Tracts C and E, and 103,004 SF of common open space.  The common open 

space is 49.1% of the total project.   

 

 In addition to the common open space, the setback requirements on each lot will provide 

approximately 35,000 SF of additional open area, bringing the total open area for the project 

when complete to about 138,000 SF in a total area of about 209,891 SF, well above the 50% 

requirement.  With or without the requested modifications, the plat will comply with this 

standard.   

 

 

 (3) Density.  The density of a planned development shall not exceed the 
density of the parent zone, except as more restrictive regulations may be prescribed as 
a condition of the PUD permit. When calculating density, the gross area is used (total 
area including street dedications). Areas of public uses may be included in calculating 
allowable density.  

 

 Response:   The findings of fact in the city’s approval of February 11, 2008 indicate that 

the R-1 portion of the overall site was 3.9 acres, which is about 169,884 SF.  The minimum lot 

size in the R-1 zone is 5,000 SF.  Property approved for a PUD may be subdivided into lots 

smaller than 5,000 SF as long as the overall density does not exceed the density of the parent 

zone.  Streets and common areas count toward the land area for this purpose. 

 

 A tract of 169,884 square feet divided by 5,000 square feet will allow 33 lots.  The 

proposed density with the requested modifications will not exceed the density of the parent zone.  

The application and the modifications comply with this standard. 

 

 

 (4)  Subdivision of Lot Sizes.   Minimum area, width, depth, and frontage 
requirements for subdivision lots in a PUD may be less than the minimums set forth 
elsewhere in City ordinances, provided that the overall density is in conformance, and 
that lots conform to the approved preliminary development plan.  

 

 Response:   The overall density of Nedonna Wave is in conformance to the zoning.  If 

the City does not grant the requested modifications, the proposal will conform exactly to the 

approved development plan.  If the City does grant the requested modifications, the proposed 

density, street layout, open space, and circulation will still conform to the approved plan. 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 19 

 

{00171143}  

 

 (5) Off-Street Parking.   Parking spaces shall conform to all provisions of this 
ordinance, except that the Planning Commission may authorize exceptions where 
warranted by unusual circumstances.  

 

 Response:   Each lot will provide parking to conform to code requirements. 

 

 (6) Signs.   All signs of any type within a PUD are subject to design review and 
approval of the Planning Commission. They shall consider each sign on its merits based 
on its aesthetic impact on the area, potential traffic hazards, potential violation of 
property and privacy rights of adjoining property owners, and need for said sign.  

 

 Response:  No permanent signs are proposed except for street signs and any no-parking 

signs that the City may require. 

 

 (7) Height Guidelines.   The same restrictions shall prevail as permitted 
outright in the zone in which such development occurs, except that the Planning 
Commission may allow a variance of heights where it is determined that surrounding 
property will not be harmed.  

 

 Response:    On February 11, 2008 in File No. #VAR 2007-21 the planning commission 

approved a height variance for building heights of 36 feet for Lots 25, 26, 27, and 28 as they 

were then numbered, which are Lots 17, 18, 19, and 20 on the plans submitted with this 

application.  In File No. #VAR 2007-20 the planning commission approved a height variance for 

building heights of 29 feet on all other lots in Nedonna Wave.  No other height variance is 

requested. 

 

 (8) Streets and Roads.   Necessary streets and roads within the PUD shall be 
dedicated to the public and constructed to City standards or shall be private roads 
maintained by an owner’s association and constructed to standards as determined by 
the Planning Commission and City Engineer.  

 

 Response:   The applicant has dedicated all of the streets and constructed most of the 

streets within the PUD already.  As part of Phase 2 the applicant will construct Jackson Street 

and the east portion of Riley Street in accordance with the engineering plans that the City 

approved in 2008. 

 

 

 (9) Dedication and Maintenance of Facilities.  The Planning Commission, or 
on appeal, the City Council may, as a condition of approval for a PUD require that 
portions of the tract or tracts under consideration be set aside, improved, conveyed or 
dedicated to the following uses:  
 



Memorandum to City of Rockaway Beach 

Application of Nedonna Development, LLC 

February 20, 2024 

Page 20 

 

{00171143}  

  (a) Recreation Facilities: The Planning Commission may require that 
suitable area for parks or playgrounds be set aside, improved, or permanently reserved 
for the owners, residents, employees or patrons of the PUD.  
 
  (b)  Common Area: Whenever common area is provided, the Planning 
Commission or City Council may require that an association of owners or tenants be 
created into a non-profit corporation under the laws of the State of Oregon, which shall 
adopt such Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws and adopt and impose such 
Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions on such common areas that are acceptable to 
the Planning Commission. Said association, if required, may undertake other functions. 
It shall be created in such a manner that owners of property shall automatically be 
members and shall be subject to assessments levied to maintain said common areas for 
the purposes intended. The period of existence of such association shall not be less than 
20 years, and it shall continue thereafter and until a majority vote of the members shall 
terminate it.  
 
  (c) Easements: Easements necessary to the orderly extension of 
public utilities may be required as a condition of approval.  

 

 Response:    The PUD enjoys excellent pedestrian access to the beach and will includ3 

49% common open space. No further recreation facilities are required.  The common area will be 

under the control of an owners’ association pursuant to covenants.  Because the railroad blocks 

extension to the east and all adjoining properties are either already developed or have direct 

access to improved public streets with utilities, no further easements for extensions of public 

utilities are required.  A portion of the open area has been set aside for a sewer pump facility. 

 

V. Conclusion 

 

 The applicant is ready to continue the development of the Nedonna Wave PUD and 

requests your approval of the preliminary plat, including the ability to separate Phase 2 into 

Phases 2 and 3, and to add two lots as described.  If the city should turn down the request to 

modify the PUD by adding the two lots, then the applicant requests that you simply approve 

Phase 2. 

 





















































Exhibit E:

Exhibits A and B

Exhibits C and D

Exhibit E

Nedonna Development, LLC; Representative Member: "Anna" Song
Mark Dane, Blue Sky Planning, Inc.

Exhibit A:

Exhibit B:
Exhibit C:

Exhibit D:

APPLICATION REQUEST:

Final Approval of Application #SPUD.07-19 Nedonna Wave, a twenty-eight_(28) residential lot
Planned Unit Development (PUD) Subdivision, which adds the overlay zonedesignatidn P.U.D.
to the City ofRockaway Beach Zoning Map and limits site development to that consistent with
Final Orders (1), (2), and (3) and Findings of Fact Exhibits A, B, C, D, and E:

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL OF ROCKAWAY BEACH, OREGON
Application #2007-19 “NEDONNA "WAVE” A 28-Lot Planned Unit Development Subdivision
Final Order Date: September 15, 2008 Page 1 of 2

’’FINAL ORDER (3)"

FINDINGS OF FACT:

The City Council relied upon Final Orders (1), (2) and (3) and Findings of Facts attached as
Exhibit A, Exhibit B, Exhibit C, Exhibit D, and Exhibit E.

Preliminary Plan Approval with Conditions on January 29, 2008;
Preliminary Plan Approval Conditions of Approval on January 29, 2008;
Final Plan Approval on May 27, 2008, and
Preliminary Plan and Final Plan Approval for a modification to permit the
Subdivision to be developed in two stages, Phase One an eight (8) lot subdivision
final plat and Phase Two a twenty (20) lot subdivision final plat.
August 13, 2008 City Council Final Approval to add P.U.D. to the Zoning Map

Final Order (1)
Final Order (2)
Final Order (3)

CASE RECORD:

The complete case record including the findings of fact and the official minutes of the meeting is
available for review at City Hall by filing a written request during regular business hours.

CITY COUNCIL DECISION: Approval with Conditions 5-0 Approval

The City Council held a public hearing on August 13, 2008. City Planner Sabrina Pearson
presented the findings of fact referenced herein as Exhibit E and explained that final approval of
Application #SPUD 07-19 adds the overlay zone designation and limits development to that
consistent with Final Orders (1), (2), and (3) and Findings of Fact Exhibits A, B, C, D, and E. A
letter of correspondence from Richard and Evelyn Huston was declared by Mayor Phipps to not
be applicable to the Council decision. No testimony was received in opposition or support of the
application. Councilor Watts made a motion seconded by May to approve the application of
P.U.D. to the zoning map for this site. The motion carried with a yes vote from Watts, May,
Daugherty, McFarlane, and Swanson.

Property Owner:

Applicant:

Engineer I Surveyor: HLB Otak, Inc., Ron Larson, PE, PLS

Location Description: South of Section Line Rd., North of Riley St., East of McMillan Canal
Legal Description: Parcel 1 ofPartition Plat 1997-20 and Parcel 3 ofPartition Plat 1997-57; a

portion of vacated Evergreen Street Rockaway Beach Ordinance #98-353
Assessor’s Plat Map: 2N 10W 20AB TL 4600, 4900, 9000
Property Size: 6.23 acres
Development Zones: R-l Zone: 3.9 acres; SA Special Area Wetlands 2.33 acres



’’FINAL ORDER (3)”

L Phipps, Mayorisa

APPEAL PERIOD:

The decision of the City Council to issue final approval for application #SPUD 07-19 to add the
overlay zone designation P.U.D. may be appealed to the Land Use Board of Appeals (LUBA) by
filing a notice of intent to appeal consistent with the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes
(ORS) 197.80$4oh®RS~197t86Q within 21 days of the date the final order is signed.

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL OF ROCKAWAY BEACH, OREGON
Application #2007-19 “NEDONNA WAVE” A 28-Lot Planned Unit Development Subdivision
Final Order Date: September 15, 2008 Page 2 of 2

1‘hox
Date



NEDONNA WAVE

5HEET 1 of 6

DECEMBER 31, 2.OO&

42
’A'

5 1
4

•0*1a

56^ I
3

MONUMENT NOTZ5*D*j
INITIAL POINT

<4 1

44
5EE 5HEET5 2 & 4

4
SEE SHEETS 3 & 5

/

N
5

9

41

42

A
44

45

TRACT

LEqSNP

INDICATES SET 5/0? X 40” REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED "HLB OTAK INC.

INDICATES 5ET 5/8" X 20’ REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED ”HLB OTAK. INC.

INDICATES MONUMENT FOUND AS NOTED HEREON.*]B*

)1 INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP C-523,( TILLAMOOK COUNTY PLAT RECORDS.

41 5H^T INDEX COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.

COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.

)4 INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-309, COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.( TILLAMOOK

( )5 INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-426, COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.TILLAMOOK

TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.( )6

VICINITY MAP
NO () OR < > INDICATES MEASURED VALUE.

0573

INSTRUMENT

#2007-050505

IRAKOIBIL

2

IPJR.

1^9*7—20

lot

25

(

(

)2

)3

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-200,

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-362,

a50NC #A2005

5403Y132.0WQ

TILLAMOOK

TILLAMOOK

• SURVEYING
• CIVIL ENGINEERING
• PLANNING
• WATER RIGHTS
• WETLAND CONSULTING

PACIFIC COUNTY

1715-B N. PACIFIC AVE.
LONG BEACH, WA 90631

(360) 642-4454
FAX: (360) 642-4054

COMMON

IP’IROIP’IBIR.TrV

—— _ O

NAlZlZATIVE
THIS SURVEY WAS CONDUCTED A5 A REPLAT OF PARCEL 1, PARTITION PLAT 1996-59 AND PARCEL
3, PARTITION PLAT 1997-57 AS DESCRIBED IN INSTRUMENT #2006-000917 & INSTRUMENT
#2006-000919. TILLAMOOK COUNTY DEED RECORDS.
THE PURPOSE OF THIS SURVEY IS TO SUBDIVIDE THE SUBJECT PROPERTY INTO THE 0 LOTS AND
TRACTS ’A’, ’B’, ’C, ’D’, ’£’, ’F’ AND ’G’ AS SHOWN HEREON, A5 PER THE CLIENT’S REQUEST.
THE WESTERLY AND NORTHERLY LINES AND PORTIONS OF THE EASTERLY AND SOUTHERLY LINES
OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY WERE HELD A5 PER MAP B-3002, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY
RECORDS.v I

o

©

A/
7 /

/ r

SCALE:

1” = 1OO’

5H££T 1
VICINITY MAP
NARRATIVE
BASIS OF BEARING
MONUMENT NOTES
LEGEND

SHEET INDEX

SHEET 2
LOT CONFIGURATION
DETAIL ’A’
CURVE TABLE

LINE TABLE
legend

SHEET 3
LOT CONFIGURATION
CURVE TABLE

LINE TABLE

legend

TILLAMOOK COUNTY

10445 NEAH-KAH-N1E CTC 2D.
MANZANITA. OR 97130

(503) 360-5394
FAX: (503) 360-5047

ip
>7 /

"l
I
I-

45

INDICATES MONUMENT FOUND AS NOTED HEREON, HELD FOR CONTROL

INDICATES FOUND 5/8’ REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED "HLB & A5S0C
INC", IN CALCULATED POSITION. SEE MAP B-3002, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY
RECORDS.

8 J

y >u? b
V)

SHEET 6
SURVEYOR’S CERTIFICATE
DECLARATION
ACKNOWLEDGMENT
APPROVALS

CERTIFICATE OF COUNTY CLERK
COVENANTS. CONDITIONS & RESTRICTIONS

SHEET 4
EASEMENT MAP
EASEMENTS CREATED BY THIS PLAT
EASEMENTS OF RECORD
LEGEND

SHEET 5
EASEMENT MAP
EASEMENTS CREATED BY THIS PLAT
LEGEND

FOUND 5/0" REBAR WITH ILLEGIBLE PLASTIC CAP FLUSH IN GROUND. HELD A5 AN
ORIGINAL MONUMENT FROM MAP C-523, TILLAMOOK COUNTY PLAT RECORDS.

NW 1/4, NE 1/4, SECTION 20, T2N, R10W, WM
TinLILAMOOK. COUNTY, OREGON

CLATSOP COUNTY

4253-A HWY 101 N.
GEARHART, OR 97130

(503) 730-3425
FAX: (503) 730-7455

WWW.HLB-OTAK.COM

LOT

25
SEE DETAIL ‘

TRACT

*A*

THRAOTT
*A*

J V A

9

0

d

/#
A /

rW
A ?

S'/

4\

,V (Y ,

f REGISTERED A

PROFESSIONAL ]
LAND SURVEYOR |

I OREGON I
July 16. 1982 I

DALE N. BARRETT J
< 1979 J

RENEWAL DATE: DECEMBER 31, 2009

<ov /

*= FEB 2»%

A 5° /

W
flip

iu

/
/ > c cA

w^7 L

1 Oo*fy43’ 6

/ .

BA5/5 OF BEARING
THE LINE BETWEEN THE FOUND MONUMENTS CTO AND CTO BEARS SOUTH 22°20’U” WEST,
PER THE RECORD VALUE FROM PARTITION PLAT 1996-59 (MAP P-362), TILLAMOOK COUNTY PLAT
RECORDS.

Ob

FOUND 5/0" REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED "DON MARX PLS 332” 0.3’ ABOVE
GROUND. HELD AS AN ORIGINAL MONUMENT FROM MAP P-362, TILLAMOOK COUNTY
SURVEY RECORDS.

FOUND 5/0" REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED "DON MARX PL5 332" 0.9’ ABOVE
GROUND, 0.26’ NORTH AND 0.51’ EAST OF CALCULATED POSITION. SEE MAP P-362,
TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.

.INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP B-3002,

INDICATES CALCULATED VALUE.

FOUND 5/&1 REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED ”C. WAYNE COOK PLS 109ST FLUSH
IN ASPHALT, AT THE CENTERLINE OF KITTIWAKE DRIVE, NEDONNA MEADOWS. HELD AS
ORIGINAL MONUMENT FROM MAP C-523, TILLAMOOK COUNTY PLAT RECORDS.

FOUND 5/8’ REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED "C. WAYNE COOK PL5 1098’ FLUSH
IN GROUND, AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 25, NEDONNA MEADOWS, HELD AS
ORIGINAL MONUMENT FROM MAP C-523, TILLAMOOK COUNTY PLAT RECORDS.

FOUND 5/8" REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED "C. WAYNE COOK PLS 1098" FLUSH
IN GROUND, AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 26, NEDONNA MEADOWS, HELD AS
ORIGINAL MONUMENT FROM MAP C-523, TILLAMOOK COUNTY PLAT RECORDS.

FOUND 5/0” REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED "C. WAYNE COOK PLS 1098’ FLUSH
IN GROUND. HELD AS AN ORIGINAL MONUMENT FROM MAP C-523, TILLAMOOK COUNTY
PLAT RECORDS.

FOUND 5/0” REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED "DON MARX PLS 332" 0.3’ ABOVE
GROUND. HELD A5 AN ORIGINAL MONUMENT FROM MAP P-200, TILLAMOOK COUNTY
SURVEY RECORDS.' / $/to

/W

A

(507°25’15"E)5^
S07‘>25’15’’£
(161.66’)5,6
161.65’

h*
m UJ

Qfe<

w
/ /

4
//

/ /



8£S-0

SHEET 2 of 6

5

4^2000DECEMBER 31,
i

43L35
uonr i

4
KjOT 2/6 Lil

L4
42

5/9
5EE DETAIL 'A'

'Ll
uonr 25

(MAP C-523)
20’

4
*•141 La

N
I5<?. L4 20’COMMON F^OFEIRrOir

A(79

I
20’

<V/J

4O9 *•029 9Sq.

A

4/3
45 45

C12C19
^15’ cl

60.00'
tn

*•825 SQ. LID

£ L16

I 20'

44
UJOTT SILjOTT 8

L21
6-

437

ULOTT <6

<s>

^2

0
L^q^ND^o

INDICATES SET 5/8? X 40” RESAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPEDo

INDICATES SET 5/0’ X 2CF RESAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED ”HLS OTAK INC.

INDICATES MONUMENT FOUND A5 NOTED HEREON, HELD FOR CONTROL.

J9T

INDICATES MONUMENT FOUND AS NOTED HEREON.

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP C-523, TILLAMOOK. COUNTY PLAT RECORDS.( )1

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-389, TILLAMOOK. COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.( )4

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-426, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.( )5
TnE^ACTT *1F*

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP 8-3002, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.( )6

INDICATES CALCULATED VALUE.

NO () OR < > INDICATES MEASURED VALUE.

C-573

'£1_’43”5

?%0&

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-280, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-362, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.

NEDONNA WAVE
PHASE 1

( )2

( )3

TL39

L50

.49t I

I
I

I
I

"SONCT *A2005

5403Y132.DWQ

1.73 ACRES

UNDEVELOPED AREA TO DE
RETAINED SY DECLARANT

3
FT.

5.

4e

’e

3,039
SQ. FT.

L31

L29

3,459
SQ. FT.

<£>

A PORTION OF
PARCEL 2

P.P. 1997-57

4,528
SQ. FT.

NEDONNA

4,069
SQ. FT.

1,558
SQ. FT.

INITIAL POINT
5£ CORNER
PARCEL 2,
PARTITION PLAT
NO. 1997-57

(MAP P-426)
<4

FT.

GZ

a
ft.

11

FT.

v.

UJ
ft?

k

T2N, R10W9 W.M.
OREGON

•ex
\_-4-

k
O'

<S

2,251
5Q. FT.

k

• SURVEYING
• CIVIL ENGINEEWNG
• PLANNING
• WATER RIGHTS
• WETLAND CONSULTING

0/

THRAOTT W

COMMON AREA
1.42 ACRES

^49’1
CO /

<o

ttracht

»<c*

DETAIL

1” =

L24

L

PACIFIC COUNTY

1715-6 N. PACIFIC WE.
LONG BEACH, WA 90631

(360) 642-4454
FAX: (360) 642-4054

LENGTH

23.97'

30.16’

23.98’

23.56’

23.56’

8.25’

23.16'

197.95’

68.23’

175.01’

27.06’

4.13’

115.48’

69.04’

204.55’

39.27’

191.35’

68.28'

4.16’

39.27'

51.39’

71.95’

17.75’

38.80’

61.67’

61.67’

24.83’

CH. SEARING CH. LENGTH

Sll*33’16”W

N11*33’1CE

N29*48'3CTW

N47*34'45?E

542*25’10’8

S81°30’4CrE

N60*H’32”E

53I*36’O5?W

521*45'2CFW

528*31'O0’W

511*33'1CW

581 *30’4CFE

N23°5i’4(T£

535*50‘52”W

N31 *36’00’8

N67*O9’OCF8
531 *36'05”W

536 *23'43”W

516*17'54”W

522*51'00/8

579*37’42”E

579* 37'42”8

N66*36'44”8

S23*23‘16?£

579 *37’42”8

579*37’42?E

528*46’1CW

TH i *MQQK COUNTY

10445 NEAH-KAH-IRE CRK ®.
FUNZAKTA. OR 97130

(503) 360-5394
FAX: (503) 360-5047

LENGTH

8.11’

20.05'

20.05’

20.05’

20.05’

33.30'

33.30’

30.27’

30.27’
25.13’

2.94’

12.17’

11.00’

13.59’

0.25’

16.27'

25.83’

20.00’

20.00’

31.76’

11.18'

25.00’

25.00’

33.95’

25.00’

40.15’

24.35’

6.61’

37.10’

16.51’

30.85’

29.99’

16.87’
11.18’

3.66’

5.03’

7.07’

34.99’
1.60’

59.54’

41.63’

20.15’

17.57’

19.00’

42.50’

21.43’

13.93’

20.00’

20.00’

15.55’

25.00’

25.00’

9.00’

3.51’

CURVE

Cl

C2

C3

C4

C5

C6

C7

C8

C9
CIO

Cll

C12

C13

Cl 4

Cl 5

C16

C17

C18

Cl 9

C20

C21

C22

C23

C24

C25

C26

C27

CU1ZVE TA0LE
RADIUS

155.00’

195.00’

15.00’

15.00’

15.00’

40.00’

15.01’

600.00’

380.00’

400.00’

175.00’

20.00’

420.00’

380.00’

620.00’

25.00’

580.00’

420.00’

380.00’

25.00’

125.00'

175.00'

11.17'

25.00’

150.00’

150.00'

380.00’

23.95’

30.13’

21.50’

21.21’

21.21’

8.24’

20.93’

197.05'

68.14’

173.62’

27.04’

4.12'

115.11’

68.95'

203.62'

35.36’

190.49'
68.21’

4.16’

35.36’

51.03’

71.44’

15.94'

35.02’

61.24'

61.24'

24.82'

LINE TABLE
LINE

LI

L2

(L2)l
L3

(L3)l

L4

(L4)6

L5

(L5)6

L6

L7

L8

L9

L10

Lil

L12

L13

L14

L15

L16

L17

L18

L19

L20

L21

L22

L23

L24

L25

L26

L27

L28

L29

L30

L3I

L32

L33

L34

L35

L36

L37

L38

L39

L40

L41

L42

L43

L44

L45

L46

L47

L4&

L49
L50

fA9

lOf

”HLS OTAK INC.

SEARING

579°01’43’’E

579°0i’43'’£

579°02’3CrE

579°01’43”E

579°02’3(TE

579°O1'43”E

579,’0i'43"E

575”36’04”E

575°36’04”£

N28°03’0a’E

S07’’07’2TW

S15°59’05”W
S790O1’43”E

579°0r43”£

NO70O7’27”E

N15*59’05”E

N75*36’04”W

N02*34’45”E

N02°34’45”E
587*25'1 5”E

N23*59’09”W
587*25’15”E

5&7*25’15"E

N75* 17’54” W
587*25’15”E

N75* 17’54”W
N69*46’31”E

569*46’31”W

N59*O5’5&’W

N00*00’0(TE

N51* 17’52”E

N25* 56’26”E

587*25’15”E

529*08’39”W

587*25’15”E

N28*03’0CTE

567*51’0(TE

515*59‘05”W

507*07’27”W

567*51’OCTE

587*25‘15”E

N79*01’43”W

S88*12’04”W

N56*56’0CrW

522*20’1 1”W

N10*58’36?E

567*51’0(TE

567*51’0CTE

567*51’0U’E

567*51’00”E

N22*20’ll”E

N22*20’ll”E

588*12’04”W

N56*56’0(TW

N79.

DELTA

8*51’3E?

8*51’30’

91*35’09”

90*00’OCT

90*00’0CF

11*49’11”

88*24’51”

18*54’1(T

10*17’15?

25*04’05”

8*51’38?

11*49'11“

15*45’11”

10*24’37”

18*54'1(T

9Q*oo’ocr

18*54’1(T

9*18'55?

0*37'30'

90*00’00?
23*33’23”

23*33'23”

91 *04’32”

88*55’29”

23*33'23”

23*33'23”

3*44’30’

Ot/s

^7

ih

MONUMENTS NOT
SET DUE TO
LOCATION OF

CANAL

NW 1/4, NE 1/4, SECTION 20,
TttXAMOOK. COUNTY,

MONUMENTS NOT
SET DUE TO
LOCATION OF

CANAL A

THKAcnr

AREA

Cl ATSOP COUNTY

4253-A HWY 101 N.
GEARHART, OR 97130

(503) 730-3425
FAX: (503) 730-7455

WWW.HLB-OTAK.COM

587*25’15”E
S87*25’15”E

115.53'

5TRE.E.T
S87*25’15?E

' I «o

THRAOTri-iS

v-

in

a*

TETKAOT ’A*

^1<o/

sl

/
<y

$

Si

r9

M 43s
<of

/t^

Q?
tn

^.oo'

&

<v *

F'

579-or43.

'^^^11

mL/g

si

&

/i
W/

^7 V

$

1 0 °

m>

4

4
//

^5^-,

f REGISTERED A

I PROFESSIONAL I
| LAND SURVEYOR |

I OREGON I
I July 16. 1982 I

I DALE N. BARRETT I
V 1979 J

RENEWAL DATE: DECEMBER 31, 2009
FEB

CO\

^2009^

lfl/

z*

K3-

INDICATES FOUND 5/0’ RESAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED ”HLS & A550C
INC, IN CALCULATED POSITION. 5EE MAP S-3002, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY
RECORDS.

A^
'•y

HJOTT 7
Iz

O) I Q

<3>l~

161.65’

S87*25’15”P

%
MONUMENTS NOT 5ET DUE
TO LOCATION OF CANAL

587*25'15”£

55.53'

/

0

7

k.

SQ.

TnE^AOTT *IB*

4/
sV

i A
<n

L>1

‘n/'n
<0/

X. A'

2,115

^Q- Fr-

78.00‘

20'

I 7 "' r-
OJ J
UJ

tn <U



NEDONNA WAVE

W 1/4, NE 1/4, 5HE.E.T 3 of 6

DE.CE.MBE.12 31, 2.OO&

&

£

N
THRAOTT TF*

40’

I ^5

<&'

$O'

I
L32

Ito
LEGEND

ciJ.
W/CA7E5 5£T 5/0” X 4CT REGAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED "HLG OTAK INC”.O

INDICATES 5ET 5/0" X 2CT REGAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED "HLG OTAK INC.
<0

© INDICATES MONUMENT FOUND A5 NOTED HEREON, HELD FOR CONTROL.

•<3 J9T

C?1
&2

INDICATES MONUMENT FOUND AS NOTED HEREON.
£*3STREET c& INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP C-523, TILLAMOOK COUNTY PLAT RECORDS.( )I

C25 IO INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-200, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.( )2
& INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-362, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.( )3

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-309, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.( )4

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-426, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.( )5

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP B-3002, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.( )6

INDICATES CALCULATED VALUE.

NO () OR < > INDICATES MEASURED VALUE.

41

C-573

ota

<»

.f

SECTION 20, T2H, R10W, W.M.

TIDULAMOOK. COUNTY, OREGON

<o

G7

UNDEVELOPED AREA TO DE
RETAINED BY DECLARANT

1.73 ACRES

UNDEVELOPED AREA TO DE
RETAINED DY DECLARANT

2,019
5Q. FT.

"SONS' *A2005

S403Y132.DWQ

PACIFIC COUNTY

1715-B N. PACIFIC AVE.
LONG BEACH, WA 90631

(360) 642-4454
FAX: (360) 642-4054

REGISTERED

PROFESSIONAL

LAND SURVEYOR
• SURVEYING
• CIVIL ENGINEERMG
• PLANNING
• WATER RIGHTS
• WETLAND CONSULTMG

TILI AMOOK COUNTY

10445 NEAH-KAH-NK CRK RD.
MANZAhETA. OR 97130

(503) 360-5394
FAX: (503) 360-5047

&

LENGTH

23.97'

30.16'

23.90'

23.56'

23.56'

0.25’

23.16’

197.95’

60.23'

175.01'

27.06'

4.13'

115.40'

69.04'

204.55’

39.27'

191.35'
60.20'

4.16'

39.27'

51.39’

71.95’

17.75'

30.00'

61.67'

61.67'

24.03'

CH. BEARING \CH. LENGTH

511"33’16"W

N11"33‘16"E

N29"40’3CW

N47"34’45"£

542"25’15"E

501 °30'4(TE

N6O"11'32"E

531"36’O5?W

S2i"45’2crw
520"31’O0’W

511"33'1CW

501 °30'4CrE

N23"51’4CTE

$35° 50’52"W

N31"36'O5"£

N67"09’0(7’E

S31"36'05"W

536"23'43"W

516"17'54"W

522"51'00’E

579"37’42"E

579°37'42’E

N66"36’44"E

S23"23’1CE

S79"37’42"E

S79 "37’42"E

520"46’16"W

23.95'

30.13’

21.50'

21.21'

21.21'

0.24'

20.93'

197.05’

60.14’

173.62’

27.04'

4.12’

115.11’

60.95’

203.62'

35.36’

190.49’

60.21'

4.16'

35.36'

51.03'

71.44’

15.94'

35.02'

61.24’

61.24’

24.02'

DEARING

S79"01’43"£

579°01’43"E

579 "02’3(7*£

579°O1’43"E

579 "02’3(7*E

579"O1’43"E

579 "01’43"E

575"36'04"£

575°36'04"E

N20"O3'O(7'£

507"07'27"W

515"59'O5"W
579"01'43"E

579"01’43"E

NO7 "07'27”E

N15"59'O5?£

N75"36’O4"W

N02"34’45?£

N02"34'45?£
S07"25’15"£

N23"59’09"W
507"25'15"£

S07"25‘1TE

N75"17'54"W

507"25'15"£

N75"17’54"W

N69"46’31”E

S69"46’3l"W

N59"05’58*W

N00"00’0(7'E

N51"17’52"£

N25"56’26?E

507"25’15"E

529°O0’39rW

507"25’15?E

N20"O3'OCTE

567"51’O(7'E

515"59’O5"W

507"07’27"W

567"51'O(7*E

507"25'15"E

N79"O1 '43"W
S00"12'O4"W

N56"56’O(7'W

522"20’ll"W

N1O"50’36"£

567"51’0CFE

S67°51’0CrE

567"51'00?£

S67°5r0(T£

N22°20’ll"E

N22"20’ll”E

500"12’O4"W

N56°56'OCFW

CURVE

Cl

C2

C3

C4

C5

C6

C7

C0

C9
CIO

CH

C12

C13

Cl 4

C15

C16

C17

C10

C19
C20

C21

C22

C23

C24

C25

C26

C27

CUfZVE TABLf
RADIUS

155.00’

195.00’

15.00’

15.00'

15.00'

40.00’

15.01’

600.00'

300.00'

400.00'

175.00'
20.00’

420.00'

300.00'

620.00'

25.00’

500.00’

420.00’

300.00'

25.00’

125.00’

175.00’

11.17’

25.00’

150.00'

150.00’

300.00’

LENGTH

0.11’

20.05’

20.05’

20.05’

20.05'

33.30’

33.30’

30.27’

30.27'

25.13’

2.94’

12.17’

11.00'

13.59’

0.25’

16.27’

25.03’

20.00'

20.00'

31.76’

11.10'

25.00'

25.00’

33.95’

25.00'

40.15'

24.35’

6.61'

37.10’
16.51'

30.05'

29.99'

16.07’

11.10'

3.66’

5.03’

7.07'

34.99’

1.60'

59.54'

41.63’

20.15’

17.57’

19.00’

42.50'

21.43’

13.93’

20.00'

20.00’

15.55’

25.00'

25.00'

9.00’
3.51’

LINE. TABLE
LINE

LI

L2

(L2)l
L3

(L3)l

L4

(L4)6

L5

(L5)6
L6

L7

L0

L9

LIO

LU

L12

L13

L14

L15

L16

L17

L10

L19

L20

L21

L22

L23

L24

L25

L26

L27

L20

L29

L3O

L31

L32

L33

L34

L35

L36

L37

L30

L39

L40

L41

L42

L43

L44

L45

L46

L47

L40

L49

L50

DELTA

0o51‘3ef

0°51’30’

91 "35’09"

90"00’OCT

90"00'0(7'

11°49’11"

00"24’5l”

10"54’1CT

10" 17’15"

25"04'05"
parser

11"49'11"

15" 45'11"

10"24'37”

10"54’1(T

9O"OQ’ocr

10°54’icr

9"10’50'

o°37'3er

9O"OQ'ocr
23"33'23"

23°33’23"

91 "04’32"

00"55'29"
23"33’23"

23"33’23"

3" 44’36"

OREGON
July 16, 1982

DALE N. BARRETT
u 1979

RENEWAL DATE: DECEMBER 31. 2009

HI.B

9

V

^<5>,

TETRAOH' TF*

1.73 ACRES

pi AT^QP COUNTY

4253-A HWY 101 N.
GEARHART, OR 97130

(503) 730-3425
FAX: (503) 730-7455

WWW.HLB-OTAK.COM

TTIRACnr ’A’

1.42 ACRES

.. £

THKAOTT

TB*

4
err/

/

J

/
A”

$

.>4

A. /

, ’ /

A

/O V(Y

//
V /

g
&

£

£

/

//

/A
I N

&

/<0

£

£

X/v

/ y

A

r

'A\

2a»9n

a
•w

vz.

, - \ro

’W
\c

<gy^

INDICATES FOUND 5/0F REDAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED "HLD & ASSOC
INC, IN CALCULATED POSITION. 5EE MAP D-3002, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY
RECORDS.

45/
[FEB

^4,

01



S4S-3

NEDONNA WAVE

SHEET 4 of 3

DECEMSE1Z 31, 2000

manr 26

DOT 25

i

'£-3 7PW<D7PiR.W’’TF'VCOMMON
V

N 2

/1,3-O\

Ii~ 40’

3

I
ST/SEET/

4 0.0'-

&.or

DOT 5IDOTT 8

0.0’-

E-l

LEQEND
*-o>

INDICATES SET S/& X 4CT REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED ”HL£> OTAK INC.O

INDICATES SET 5/& X 2(T REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED ”HLB OTAK INC.

©UOTT 7 morr <s

INDICATES MONUMENT FOUND AS NOTED HEREON.

COUNTY PLAT RECORDS.INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP C-523, TILLAMOOK( )1

COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.

COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.

COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-309, TILLAMOOK( )4

£ COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-426, TILLAMOOK( )5

£
TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP B-3002,( )6

INDICATES CALCULATED VALUE.

NO () OR < > INDICATES MEASURED VALUE.

C-573

THRAOTT TB*

COMMON

AIRJEA

A PORTION OF
PARCEL 2

P.P. 1997-57

I
I

( )2

( )3

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-200,

INDICATES RECORO VALUE FROM MAP P-362,

E-5 - A DRAINAGE EASEMENT 15 HEREBY CREAED OVER ALL OF TRACTS A, B,

AND D.

E-4 - EXISTING ACCE55 AND UTILITY EASEMENT, SEE INSTRUMENT

*2004-007454, TILLAMOOK COUNTY DEED RECORDS.

-SONG? *A2005
5403Y132.DWQ

TILLAMOOK

TILLAMOOK

UJ

.Q

• SURVEYING
• CIVIL ENGINEERING
• PLANNING
• WATER RIGHTS
• WETLAND CONSULTMG

TILLAMOOK COUNTY

10445 NflW-tAH-Nt (XL RD.
MANZANITA. OR 97130

(503) 360-5394
FAX: (503) 360-5047

EASEMENTS OF ^ECOiZD
E-3 - EXISTING ACCESS AND UTILITY EASEMENT, SEE INSTRUMENT

*2004-010912, TILLAMOOK COUNTY DEED RECORDS.

NBDONNA

MRAOOW^

(MAP C-523)

thraott *a*

OOIMEtMEOTM'

AREA

I

I ?
r

EASEMENT TO BE
EXTINGUISHED

SEE EASEMENT

NOTE E-4

''THRAOTT

TRACT ’A’

AREA

x

I
I
I

J
I

- /
I

PACIFIC COUNTY

1715-B N. PACIFIC AVE.
LONG BEACH. WA 90631

(360) 642-4454
FAX: (360) 642-4054

^7

£-2 - 13.0 FOOT WIDE N0N-EXCLU5IVE UTILITY EASEMENT INCLUDING. &UT NOT
LIMITED TO POWER, CABLE TV, TELEPHONE, 5EWER, 5T0RM DRAINAGE, AMD WATER

SERVICES.

CLATSOP COUNTY

4Z53-A HWY 101 N.
GEARHART, OR 97130

(503) 730-3425
FAX: (503) 730-7455

WWW.HLB-OTAK.COM

EASEMENTS CHEATED BY THIS PLAT
E—l - 0.0 FOOT WIDE N0N-EXCLU5IVE UTILITY EASEMENT INCLUDING, BUT NOT

LIMITED TO POWER, CABLE TV, TELEPHONE, SEWER, STORM DRAINAGE, AND WATER
SERVICES.

sO/vQ

1/4, NE 1/4,

TULLAMOOK. COUNTY,

I 4J I6-0’-

s
Q e-+—,

X

r~ REGISTERED A
PROFESSIONAL 1

LAND SURVEYOR |

I oifeGON I
I July 16. 1982 I

I DALE N. BARRETT I
V 1979 J

RENEWAL DATE: DECEMBER 31. 2009

T/

\. <v
k i

f H
UJ

K
10

/</

//
/

i
i

/ /

'i

TTRACHT TDf
CO^OidlOTM’ /

AREA /

SECTION 20. T2N, IR10W, W.M.
OREGON

INDICATES MONUMENT FOUND A5 NOTED HEREON, HELD FOR CONTROL.

INDICATES FOUND 5/&1 REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED ”HLB & ASSOC
INC, IN CALCULATED POSITION. SEE MAP B-3002, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY
RECORDS.

!/

//
//

/ / »u

Il i



SHEET 5 of 6

200031,

£

N
40’1”

TTKACTT TF*

LCqtND

INDICATES SET 5/& X 4CT REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED ”HLB OTAK INC.

INDICATES 5ET S/EF X ZCT REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED nHL£> OTAK. INC.

&*O>,
INDICATES MONUMENT FOUND AS NOTED HEREON, HELD FOP CONTROL.

I
INDICATES MONUMENT FOUND AS NOTED HEPEON.

COUNTY PLAT RECORDS.INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP C-5Z3, TILLAMOOK( )1

COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.TILLAMOOK.

<0 COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.TILLAMOOK

COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-309, TILLAMOOK( )4

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-4Z6, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.
( )S

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP B-300Z, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY RECORDS.( )6

INDICATES CALCULATED VALUE.

£7 NO () OR < > INDICATES MEASURED VALUE.

sitter

I

0573

' *

I
I

(

( )3

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-Z0O,

INDICATES RECORD VALUE FROM MAP P-362,

E-2 - 13.0 FOOT WIDE NON- EXCLUSIVE UTILITY EASEMENT INCLUDING, BUT NOT

UNITED TO POWER, CABLE TV, TELEPHONE, 5EWER, 5TORM DRAINAGE, AND WATER

SERVICES.

"SONGT *A2005

5403Y132.DWQ

PACIFIC COUNTY

1713-6 N. PACIFIC AVE.
LOMQ MACH, WA 90631

(360) 642-4454
FAX: (360) 642-4054

V/

T2N, R10W» W.M.

TILI AMOOK COUNTY

10445 NBAH-KAH-Nt CEE 2D.
MAN&NRA, OR 97130

(503) 366-5394
FAX: (503) 360-5647

CIZEATZD 3Y THIS PLAT
E- 1 - 0.0 FOOT WIDE NON-EXCLUSNE UTILITY EASEMENT INCLUDING, BUT NOT

UNITED TO POWER. CABLE TV, TELEPHONE, SEWER, STORM DRAINAGE, AND WATER

SERVICES.

• SURVEYING

• CIVIL ENGINEERING
• ftANMNG
• WATER RIGHTS
• WETLAND CONSOLING

TETRA-CTT A’

COMMON

AREA

o

©

/
I

1

I I

/7
I

(

NEDONNA WAVE
PHASE 1

Cl ATSCP COUNTY

4253-A HWY 101 N.
GEARHART, OR 97136

(503) 736-3425
FAX: (503) 736-7455

WWW.HLB-OTAK.COM

REGISTERED A

PROFESSIONAL

LAND SURVEYOR

OREGON ~ 4I
July 16. 1982 I

DALE N. BARRETT I
1979 J

RENEWAL DATE: DECEMBER 31, 2009rG®

I o
<0 /

y

NW 1/4, NE 1/4, SECTION 20,

tujulamooki COUNTY,
/ - , _ DE.CE.M&E.12

7/

*o.

> TTRAOTTj

/ TB’ /

/V

//
V /

0 /

Vj I
A/ /

7

INDICATES FOUND S/ST REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED ”HLB & ASSOC

INC’, IN CALCULATED POSITION. SEE MAP B-3002, TILLAMOOK COUNTY SURVEY

RECORDS.

E-5 - A DRAINAGE EASEMENT IS HEREBY CREAED OVER ALL OF TRACTS A B,

AND D.

i
ui|

7^/

I
I I
1aj

— J



NEDONNA WAVE
1

WJML SHEET 6 of 6

DeCeMBetZ 31, 2OO&

SUfZVtYOfZ'S Ce/ZTIFICATt CERTIFICATE OF COUNTY CLERK

I, DALE. N. BARRETT, CERTIFY THAT: STATE OF OREGON

COUNTY OF TILLAMOOK

BYi

STATE OF OREGON
5.5.

COUNTY OF TILLAMOOK

NOTARY PUBLIC - OREGON

DAY

OF

WEST 64.59 FEET TO A 5/& REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED

EAST 30.27 FEET TO A 5/0’ REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED ”HLB
APPROVALS

EAST 161.65 FEET TO THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE PORT

STATE OF OREGON

COUNTY OF TILLAMOOK

TILLAMOOi

TAXES HAVE BEEN PAID IN FULL TO JUNE 30, 2009.

SEE INSTRUMENT FOR

C-573

•SCWtF *A2005
54O3Y132.DWQ

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES ON THE 7

M/Lrd/\ 2dio

fiGINEER, 1
*F ROCKAWAY BEACH

T2N, 1R10W,
(OIRJBGC^J

KAHM N. ("ANNA”) SONG
MANAGER, NEDONNA DEVELOPMENT, LLC

I HAVE CORRECTLY SURVEYED AND MARKED WITH PROPER MONUMENTS, THE LANDS REPRESENTED
ON THE ATTACHED MAP, THE BOUNDARIES OF WHICH ARE DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

A TRACT OF LAND LOCATED IN THE NORTHWEST ONE-QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST ONE-QUARTER
OF SECTION 20, TOWNSHIP 2 NORTH, RANGE 10 WEST, OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, TILLAMOOK
COUNTY, OREGON, FURTHER DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

',ED BEFORE ME
, 2009,

CITY

CITY

>

>

>

• SURVEYING
• CIVIL ENGINEERNG
• PLANNING
• WATER RIGHTS
• WETLAND CONSULTMG

CITY MANAQ&, DATE 1
CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

* DATE

PACIFIC COUNTY

1715-0 N. PACIFIC AVE.
LONG BEACH. WA 90631

(360) 642-4454
FAX: (360) 642-4054

TH 1 AMQOK COUNTY

10445 NEAH-KAH-NK Ctt RD.
MANZAMTA. OR 97130

(503) 360-5394
FAX: (503) 360-5047

ISSESSOR DATE

DATE

DATE

TMW 1/4, NE 1/4, SECTION 20,
nnnr jt COUNTY,

DATE

”HLB

V *2 “ C>

TILLAMOOK COUNTY COMMISSIONER DATE

ACK. NOWLEDQMENT

STATE OF OREGON

COUNTY OF TILLAMOOK

Cl ATSOP COUNTY

4Z53-A HWY 101 N.
GEARHART. OR 97130

(503) 730-3425
FAX: (503) 730-7455

WWW.HLB-OTAK.COM

DECLARATION
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS THAT NEDONNA DEVELOPMENT, LLC. A LIMITED
LIABILITY COMPANY, BEING THE OWNER OF THE LAND HEREIN DESCRIBED, DOES HEREBY
MAKE, ESTABLISH AND DECLARE THE ANNEXED MAP OF ”NEDONNA WAVE PHASE 1”, AS
DESCRIBED IN THE ACCOMPANYING SURVEYORS CERTIFICATE, TO BE A TRUE AND
CORRECT MAP AND PLAT THEREOF, ALL LOTS AND TRACTS BEING DIMENSIONS SHOWN
ON SAID MAP, AND THAT ALL STREETS WITHIN THIS PLAT ARE HEREBY DEDICATED TO
THE PUBLIC FOREVER.

EASEMENTS E-l, E-2 AND E-5 ARE CREATED FOR THE PURPOSES STATED HEREON.

TRACTS A. B AND D ARE HEREBY DEDICATED AS COMMON OPEN SPACES AS DEFINED
IN THE COVENANTS, CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR NEDONNA WAVE SUBDIVISION.

PRINTED NAME OF NOTARY PUBLIC

>5.3.
>

I, TA55I O’NEIL, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT I AM THE QUALIFIED CLERK OF TILLAMOOK
COUNTY, OREGON AND THAT THIS COPY IS THE FULL, COMPLETE AND TRUE COPY OF
THE ORIGINAL PLAT OF SAME, AS RECORDED IN PLAT CABINET 0- i/Mg OF PUT
RECORDS OF TILLAMOOK COUNTY, ORE&N, RECORDED VdoYtULYV 3- , 2000,
AS INSTRUMENT NO. /

TASSPQ^IEIL, COIMTT CLE^t" r / )

>

>5-5.

TILLAMOOK COUNTY COMMISSIONER DATE

TILLAMOOK G&UNTY COMMISSIONER

1, DALE N. BARRETT, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS 15 A FULL, COMPLETE AND TRUE
COPY OF THE ORK^NAL^PUT AS REfTRENCED ABOVE.

DALEN. BARRETT, PLS 1979

ACKNOWL^Gi

KAHM N. (’’ANNA”) 50NG A5 MANAGER OF NEDONNA
DEVELOPMENT, LLC

NOTARY’S SIGNATURE

> 5.5.
>

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TAfii COLLECTORS

, (FEB 2 2009'
C j/

—J ’
rj.

TILLAMOOK COUi

EXAMINED AND APPROVED BY THE FOLLOWING:

COUNTY SURVEYOR DATE

C^PLANNING COMMISSION CHAIRPERSON, DATE
CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

DAY OF

TILLAMOOK

VNTY CLERK

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS PUT WAS RECEIVED FOR RECORD ON THE

veMULMz 2009 and recorded in put cabinet b-J/^5.
COUNTY RECORDS, AS INSTRUMENT NO.

BEGINNING at THE INITIAL POINT LOCATED AT NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY,
5AID POINT BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF PARCEL 2 OF PARTITION PUT NO. 1997-57,
TILLAMOOK COUNTY, OREGON, SAID CORNER BEING MARKED BY A 5/& REBAR WITH FUSTIC CAP
STAMPED ”HLB & ASSOC INC, 5AID POINT BEING ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THE
PORT OF TILLAMOOK BAY RAILROAD;

THENCE SOUTH 22*20’11” WEST 742.96 FEET ALONG 5AID RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE, TO A 5/ST
REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED "DON MARX PLS 332”;
THENCE LEAVING 5AID RIGHT-OF-WAY UNE, NORTH 67*51’0CT WEST 424.70 FEET TO A 5/0’
REBAR WITH PU5T1C CAP STAMPED ”HLB & ASSOC INC;
THENCE NORTH 20*03’00? EAST 30.16 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF TRACT ’A’, WHITE
DOVE ESTATES, SAID POINT BEING MARKED BY A 5/0* REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED ”HLB &
AS5OC INC;

THENCE NORTH 31 *33’51” EAST 510.97 FEET ALONG THE EAST UNE OF 5AID TRACT ’A’ TO THE

SOUTHEAST CORNER OF PARCEL 2, PARTITION PUT 1997-20, 5A1D POINT BEING MARKED BY A
5/01 REBAR WITH PU5T1C CAP STAMPED ”DON MARX PLS 332”;
THENCE NORTH 1O°50'36” EAST 101.53 FEET ALONG THE EAST UNE OF 5AID PARCEL 2 TO A
5/er REBAR WITH UNREADABLE PU5TIC CAP AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF NEDONNA MEADOWS;

THENCE SOUTH 79*01’43” EAST 179.49 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH UNE OF NEDONNA MEADOW5 TO
A 5/SF REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED ”HLB & ASSOC INC;
THENCE SOUTH 06*42’0C
& A55OC INC;

THENCE SOUTH 75*36’04”
& ASSOC INC;

THENCE SOUTH 07*25’15”
OF TILLAMOOK BAY RAILROAD, 5AID POINT BEING THE INITIAL POINT.

I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT THIS MAP WAS PREPARED USING HP PRODUCT *5164OA INK
ON WMF ARCHIVAL P&Z FILM. h

DAXB. N. BARRETT.^FiS 1979

COMMISSION NO.: 402ML

REGISTERED

PROFESSIONAL I
IjAND SURVEYOR J

OREGON * I
July t6» 1982 I

DALE N. BARRETT 1
1979 J

RENEWAL DATE: DECEMBER 31. 2009

COVENANTS, COND/77ON5 <& /?EST^ICTIONS
SEE INSTRUMENT dtp TILLAMOOK COUNTY DEED RECORDS FOR
DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR NEDONNA WAVE

SUBDIVISION.

SEE INSTRUMENT QQQSR3. TILLAMOOK COUNTY DEED RECORDS FOR
DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS REUTING TO WETLAND AREAS
FOR NEDONNA WAVE SUBDIVISION.

Life®, TILLAMOOK COUNTY DEED RECORDS
DECLARATION DEED RE5TRICT1ON5/RE5TRICT1VE COVENANT (AGREEMENT FOR IMPROVEMENTS).



 

WRITTEN TESTIMONY 

SUBMITTED FOR 

JUNE 20, 2024 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

HEARING 
Planned Unit Development (PUD #24-01) 

 

Received as 6/13/2024 



To:         City of Rockaway Beach 

City of Rockaway Beach Planning Commission 

City of Rockaway Beach City Planner Mary Johnson 

From:  Danny J. Wilhelmi 

  Chieftain Dr 

 Rockaway Beach, OR 97136 

 503- 0 

Date: 6/10/2024 

Subject: Written public comments regarding PUD-24-1 

 

Dear City of Rockaway Beach, 

I have been a homeowner in Rockaway Beach since the Fall of 2016, my home is located directly West of tax lot 
10200.  I am writing to communicate multiple issues about the PUD application which was submitted by Nedonna 
Development LLC (case PUD-24-1) which I respectfully ask to be resolved before moving forward with approval of 
the PUD.   I emailed a copy of this to the city planner, mailed a paper copy to the planning department, and will be 
physically present at the Jun 20, 2024 hearing. 

 

Issue #1:   

A majority of the lots proposed in PUD-24-1 appear to be in violation of Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance (RBZO) 
3.010, section 3, subsection a. 

“The minimum lot size shall be 3,500 square feet for lots existing at the time of the adoption of Ordinance 
235. Lots platted after the adoption of Ordinance 235 shall have a minimum lot size of 5,000 square feet.  
[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985]” 

Tax lots 10200/10400/10500 were established per Tillamook County Real Legal Description on Mar 06, 2009.  As 
such, my interpretation is that lots subdivided on this property should adhere to the 5000 sq ft requirement.  Only 
lot #1 of the PUD adheres to this requirement.   Even if the pre-1985 minimum size of 3500 sq ft applied, only lots # 
1, 2, 3, 6 of the PUD adhere to that requirement.    

What is apparent to me is that the local density of this PUD is extremely high, and to make matters worse this 
request intends to increase the number of lots beyond the originally approved qty, creating many ~2500 sq ft lots 
and is phrased in the memorandum to the city as “a small increase in the number of lots in Nedonna Wave”.   I 
do not view this as a small increase in what I believe was already too dense of a PUD. 

While Article10 Planned Unit Development section 10.040 subsection 4 “Subdivision of Lot sizes” states that 
minimum area for subdivision lots can be less than minimums set elsewhere in City ordinances as long as the 
density is in conformance, I don’t believe the density requirements are met or at least the spirit is not met.   At a 
minimum, the request for increased lot qty should be rejected. 

  



Issue #2:  

I believe that this development will be in violation of RBZO 3.092, section 2.  The entire White Dove neighborhood is 
already under substantial flood pressure from McMillan creek which runs between my lot and tax lot 10200.  
Homes on lots #1-16 will reduce direct rainwater absorption into the ground, which will result in more rain runoff 
into McMillan creek, worsening the existing flooding risk.  Additionally, lots #10-12 are routinely in or directly near 
standing water due to the inadequate drainage of this area into the already stressed McMillan creek.   

The applicant is in denial of or is ignorant to the severity of this ongoing situation as evidenced by their response in 
the memorandum to Section41, “Land Subject to Inundation”: 

“If any portion of land proposed for development is subject to overflow, inundation or flood hazard by, or 
collection of, storm waters, an adequate system of storm drains, levees, dikes and pumping systems shall 
be provided. 

Response: As part of developing Phase 1, the applicant installed storm drain culverts from the wetland 
area under Kittiwake Drive to Tract B and thence to McMillan Creek to provide storm drainage from Tract F. 
The applicant believes the existing wetland and drainage facility to be adequate. The plat complies 
with this standard.” 

I can unequivocally say that the previously installed storm drain culvert to Tract B does not remotely provide 
adequate drainage that the applicant claims.   Please see below pictures taken on Jun9, 2024 showing extremely 
high water on the East and West sides of said drainage, while keeping in mind that we are already at a lower rainfall 
portion of the year and there is still this much water present.   Additionally, the City of Rockaway Beach Public 
Works is fully aware of this flooding situation and has crews out nearly every week attempting to mitigate the 
problem to no avail.   The bottom line is McMillan Creek isn’t draining its existing load of storm water, let alone 
more. 

East of Tract B & Kittiwake, just north of Lot #10, picture taken Jun9, 2024 

 

  



West of Kittiwake, on tax lot 10100 / Tract B, just north of lot #1 

 

As I mentioned, McMillan creek itself is ill suited to take on any further storm water runoff. Please see below 
picture taken on Jun9, 2024 directly east of my lot showing the unprecedented height of this creek during this lower 
rainfall portion of the year. The water has nearly eclipsed the road culvert and is starting to heavily erode the bank. 

 

I fundamentally believe that development of this PUD will lead to increased risk of a catastrophic flood event 
affecting many homes near this PUD, including mine, devaluing my property and putting lives at risk.  At a 
minimum, the previously installed/planned drainage plan must be reworked for the PUD to proceed.     

  



Issue#3:  

Egress & Safety is a major problem in my neighborhood.   We are heavily populated with STRs which dramatically 
increases, beyond a normal person’s perception, the quantity of people & cars in Nedonna.    STRs frequently have 
an overload of people and cars beyond a normal full or part time residence. 

There is only one way in/out of this heavily used neighborhood, this places us already at an elevated safety risk in 
an event of an obstruction of the entrance (which happened just recently this year with a significant car accident at 
the corner of Beach St & Hwy 101 that closed the entrance for multiple hours).  An ambulance or fire truck would 
be blocked from entering the neighborhood in such cases, delaying life-saving aid to someone who may need it.  
Increasing the amount of residents/lots will only further stress what is already a bad situation that needs remedied 
already. 

 

Issue#4:   

We have an established Tsunami evacuation path directly in the area where Riley St is to be extended, see the 
below picture taken on Jun9, 2024. 

 

Given the intense local density of the homes proposed near Jackson St, I believe there will be many cars parked on 
the street, which will impede evacuation in the event of a natural disaster such as a Tsunami.  The Nedonna 
neighborhood area lacks basic infrastructure for managing on street parking such as painted curbs or signs 
directing where cars can or cannot be parked, and I envision this area as being very unregulated. 

Moreover, in the memorandum to the city, the applicant’s modification #3 intends to form an additional lot directly 
on tax lot 10500/Trace E and overlapping onto the evacuated stub of Riley street.  This is directly impeding the 
existing Tsunami evacuation path leading up the hill, with no remediation planned. 

“Provide that when the owner of the land to the south extends Jackson Street south into that property, the 
city will vacate the east stub of Riley Street so that Riley Street will terminate in a T intersection with 
Jackson Street, and the vacated stub can be combined with Tract E to form an additional building lot.” 

 

  

Tsunami 
escape trail 



In closing, I dearly love my home and my neighborhood in Rockaway Beach.  I wish for people to be able to 
experience living in a community like I do.  However, I believe this PUD is: 

1) not compliant with applicable zoning requirements for lot sizes or the spirit thereof. 
2) is stressing neighborhood accessibility in the event of public/personal emergencies and is impeding and 

eventually removing an established Tsunami escape route with no remediation plan. 
3) Is ignoring the existing serious flooding situation on this property and will have a severely detrimental effect 

to an already stressed creek / rainwater drainage system by removing significant acreage of natural 
rainwater absorption. 

I respectfully ask for these concerns to be resolved before moving forward with approval of the PUD-24-1. 

 

Sincerely, 
Danny J. Wilhelmi 



1

City Planner

From:
Sent: Monday, June 10, 2024 9:32 PM
To: City Planner
Subject: LIMITED ACCESS AND EGRESS TO OUR COMMUNITY

We live @ 26105 Nedonna Ave, in Nedonna, 24' from the road. We listen to the constant sound of cars 
rushing to their destinations. Drivers rarely look right or left at our pathetic signs, beseeching them to drive 
slow. I have seen happily released workmen in their pickups, racing one another, at very high speeds. 
    Nedonna Ave is nicely paved encouraging drivers to drive well over the suggested 25 miles speed limit. 
     I worry about the 20 additional homes that will bring excavating equipment, trucks and more workers 
speeding constantly up and down our street. Not to mention the traffic once the additional 20 homes come 
to be. We sincerely hope that you will consider an access road for the safely of our community. 
 
Thank you, Darrell & Diane  DeJong 
Thank you, Darrell & Diane DeJong 
 



From: Delta Holderness
To: City Planner
Subject: Concerns about the proposed development in Nedonna Beach
Date: Friday, May 17, 2024 4:26:08 PM
Attachments: Proposed development for Nedonna Beach.pdf

Good afternoon, Mary

My name is Delta Holderness. My husband, Tom, and I have lived in Nedonna Beach since
2016, and before purchasing our home, we lived in Rockaway for almost a year.

I am aware that many issues are being considered for this proposed development, including
flood concerns, wetlands, access and egress, traffic, parking, drinking water, and waste
management.

As a registered nurse, one of my concerns is the safety of our residents, especially our aging
citizens who have chosen to retire here or have summer homes while wintering in Arizona.
However, I am also concerned about the well-being of all residents and the tourists who
vacation here, often year after year. Additionally, I greatly value the wildlife with which we
coexist harmoniously.

I appreciate the opportunity to provide you and the City with my thoughts, ideas, and 
opinions.  

Sincerely,
Delta Holderness




Expanding housing in small coastal communities requires careful consideration of the existing 


infrastructure and the specific needs of the residents. Placing additional housing units in 


Nedonna Beach, regardless of the number of houses built, presents several challenges that argue 


against such an expansion without first addressing the foundational issues. This is particularly 


important in a community partly managed by both the county and the city. Here are several 


points that support the argument against adding more housing units: 


1. Existing Infrastructure Deficiencies 


The current infrastructure in Nedonna Beach is insufficient to support additional housing. The 


community lacks adequate sidewalks, crosswalks, and other essential pedestrian safety features. 


This is especially problematic for our retiree population, who rely heavily on safe, accessible 


walkways to navigate their daily activities, including walking to and from the beach. Currently, 


residents have no choice but to walk directly in the roads, which poses significant safety risks. 


2. Safety Concerns for Older Adults 


The retirement population in Nedonna Beach has specific mobility and safety needs. Older adults 


often have slower reaction times, decreased stability, and a higher risk of falling. The wetter 


climate exacerbates these issues, as grass becomes slippery and dirt paths turn into mud. Without 


proper sidewalks and other well-maintained walkways, the risk of accidents and injuries 


increases significantly. Walking on the roads, currently the only available option is particularly 


dangerous for all residents, not just retirees. Moving too far onto the shoulder can result in falls 


into water drainage ditches, posing moderate to severe injury risks such as sprained ankles and 


wrists, broken bones, and head trauma. 


3. Traffic and Speed Management 


Current traffic management is inadequate for the community's needs. There is a pressing need for 


speed bumps, lower speed limit signs, pedestrian crosswalks and signage (see below), and 


improved traffic control measures to ensure the safety of residents. This is particularly important 


for older adults, who may not be able to move quickly out of the way of oncoming vehicles, and 


for children, who may not pay attention while riding their bikes.  Additionally, slower speeds are 


essential for enabling drivers to stop more quickly to avoid wildlife that may suddenly dart in 


front of vehicles. 


Adding more housing units will increase traffic, further endangering pedestrians, bicyclists, and 


wildlife unless these issues are addressed first. While it may not be possible to get the County to 


reduce their speed limits on what are considered County roads, the City of Rockaway Beach can 


definitely make this change and post speed limit signs within the city limits that are lower and 


safer for pedestrians. While speeding would still occur with the lower posted speed, the hope 


would be that the overall speed of vehicles would decrease.   


 


 


 


 







4. Strain on Public Services 


Additional housing units would place further strain on already limited public services. This 


includes healthcare, police and other emergency services, and maintenance of public spaces. The 


existing resources are insufficient to meet the needs of our current population, let alone 


accommodate a growing one, especially given the higher demands that an increased population 


would require. 


5. Environmental Impact 


The environmental impact of additional housing cannot be overlooked. Increased housing 


density can lead to greater surface runoff, flooding, erosion, and pollution, which the current 


infrastructure is not equipped to handle. These environmental changes can further degrade 


walking conditions, making paths muddier and more hazardous for everyone. 


6. Community Character and Quality of Life 


Preserving the quality of life for current residents is crucial. Introducing more housing units may 


disrupt the peaceful, slower-paced environment that benefits retirees, working adults, and 


families. Many Nedonna Beach residents have chosen to live here specifically to enjoy the 


tranquility that beach life offers. Increased noise, traffic, and congestion are likely to negatively 


impact the well-being and mental health of the community. 


Conclusion 


Before considering the addition of new housing units, Rockaway Beach must prioritize 


upgrading its infrastructure and determine how best to work with the County on these issues that 


will improve the lives of all of the residents in Nedonna Beach.  This includes building and 


maintaining sidewalks, installing adequate crosswalks, implementing traffic calming measures, 


and ensuring that the public services can accommodate a growing population. By addressing 


these issues first, the city and county can create a safer, more accessible environment that 


supports the health and well-being of its current residents, while being better prepared for any 


future development. 


 







From: Delta Holderness
To: City Planner
Subject: Concerns about the proposed development in Nedonna Beach
Date: Friday, May 17, 2024 4:26:08 PM
Attachments: Proposed development for Nedonna Beach.pdf

Good afternoon, Mary

My name is Delta Holderness. My husband, Tom, and I have lived in Nedonna Beach since
2016, and before purchasing our home, we lived in Rockaway for almost a year.

I am aware that many issues are being considered for this proposed development, including
flood concerns, wetlands, access and egress, traffic, parking, drinking water, and waste
management.

As a registered nurse, one of my concerns is the safety of our residents, especially our aging
citizens who have chosen to retire here or have summer homes while wintering in Arizona.
However, I am also concerned about the well-being of all residents and the tourists who
vacation here, often year after year. Additionally, I greatly value the wildlife with which we
coexist harmoniously.

I appreciate the opportunity to provide you and the City with my thoughts, ideas, and 
opinions.  

Sincerely,
Delta Holderness




Expanding housing in small coastal communities requires careful consideration of the existing 


infrastructure and the specific needs of the residents. Placing additional housing units in 


Nedonna Beach, regardless of the number of houses built, presents several challenges that argue 


against such an expansion without first addressing the foundational issues. This is particularly 


important in a community partly managed by both the county and the city. Here are several 


points that support the argument against adding more housing units: 


1. Existing Infrastructure Deficiencies 


The current infrastructure in Nedonna Beach is insufficient to support additional housing. The 


community lacks adequate sidewalks, crosswalks, and other essential pedestrian safety features. 


This is especially problematic for our retiree population, who rely heavily on safe, accessible 


walkways to navigate their daily activities, including walking to and from the beach. Currently, 


residents have no choice but to walk directly in the roads, which poses significant safety risks. 


2. Safety Concerns for Older Adults 


The retirement population in Nedonna Beach has specific mobility and safety needs. Older adults 


often have slower reaction times, decreased stability, and a higher risk of falling. The wetter 


climate exacerbates these issues, as grass becomes slippery and dirt paths turn into mud. Without 


proper sidewalks and other well-maintained walkways, the risk of accidents and injuries 


increases significantly. Walking on the roads, currently the only available option is particularly 


dangerous for all residents, not just retirees. Moving too far onto the shoulder can result in falls 


into water drainage ditches, posing moderate to severe injury risks such as sprained ankles and 


wrists, broken bones, and head trauma. 


3. Traffic and Speed Management 


Current traffic management is inadequate for the community's needs. There is a pressing need for 


speed bumps, lower speed limit signs, pedestrian crosswalks and signage (see below), and 


improved traffic control measures to ensure the safety of residents. This is particularly important 


for older adults, who may not be able to move quickly out of the way of oncoming vehicles, and 


for children, who may not pay attention while riding their bikes.  Additionally, slower speeds are 


essential for enabling drivers to stop more quickly to avoid wildlife that may suddenly dart in 


front of vehicles. 


Adding more housing units will increase traffic, further endangering pedestrians, bicyclists, and 


wildlife unless these issues are addressed first. While it may not be possible to get the County to 


reduce their speed limits on what are considered County roads, the City of Rockaway Beach can 


definitely make this change and post speed limit signs within the city limits that are lower and 


safer for pedestrians. While speeding would still occur with the lower posted speed, the hope 


would be that the overall speed of vehicles would decrease.   


 


 


 


 







4. Strain on Public Services 


Additional housing units would place further strain on already limited public services. This 


includes healthcare, police and other emergency services, and maintenance of public spaces. The 


existing resources are insufficient to meet the needs of our current population, let alone 


accommodate a growing one, especially given the higher demands that an increased population 


would require. 


5. Environmental Impact 


The environmental impact of additional housing cannot be overlooked. Increased housing 


density can lead to greater surface runoff, flooding, erosion, and pollution, which the current 


infrastructure is not equipped to handle. These environmental changes can further degrade 


walking conditions, making paths muddier and more hazardous for everyone. 


6. Community Character and Quality of Life 


Preserving the quality of life for current residents is crucial. Introducing more housing units may 


disrupt the peaceful, slower-paced environment that benefits retirees, working adults, and 


families. Many Nedonna Beach residents have chosen to live here specifically to enjoy the 


tranquility that beach life offers. Increased noise, traffic, and congestion are likely to negatively 


impact the well-being and mental health of the community. 


Conclusion 


Before considering the addition of new housing units, Rockaway Beach must prioritize 


upgrading its infrastructure and determine how best to work with the County on these issues that 


will improve the lives of all of the residents in Nedonna Beach.  This includes building and 


maintaining sidewalks, installing adequate crosswalks, implementing traffic calming measures, 


and ensuring that the public services can accommodate a growing population. By addressing 


these issues first, the city and county can create a safer, more accessible environment that 


supports the health and well-being of its current residents, while being better prepared for any 


future development. 


 







From: Donna Locke
To: City Planner
Subject: Proposed Development in Nedonna Beach
Date: Tuesday, May 21, 2024 3:00:45 PM

﻿﻿﻿﻿Hello, Mary.

My name is Donna Locke, and I live at 8760 Beach St. in NB, which is the third house in from Hwy. 101 on the
north side of Beach St.  I am concerned about further development in NB.

I have owned my home since March 2015 and have lived here full time since October 2018.  In that time the traffic
has increased by an incredible amount, and I’m no longer living in a quiet little residential community that I thought
I would be.  I was attracted to NB because it is a lovely fully residential beach community yet close to commercial
areas. 

My biggest concern with further development of NB is the fact that although it has remained residential my guess is
at least 60%, if not more, of the homes are full-time vacation rentals.  This small community doesn’t appear to have
been developed to handle the constant traffic flow that occurs due to a stream of vehicles from so many vacationers. 
I don’t know if the City of RB is responsible for issuing permits for the rentals in that northeast corner of NB that is
on public sewer or if it is Tillamook County like the rest of NB, but regardless I believe that the requirements for
turning homes into full-time vacation rentals are pretty lax throughout NB.

Traffic is pretty much constant and the drivers have no regard for the 25 mph signage.  I walk a lot not only on the
beach but on the streets and drivers really do speed through here, and the roads—especially the main roads—have
no shoulders to make it safe for pedestrians, bicyclists, and animals alike.  Trash is an issue as well as irresponsible
pet owners who do not clean up after their dogs, especially on the beach.  I’m tired of cleaning up after dogs on and
off the beach, which I do when I’m walking my dog and have her poop bags with me.  I’m tired of cleaning up trash
(especially bottles and cans) on the beach, and some on the street, which I do almost daily.  I’m tired of trash cans
being filled beyond capacity and left on the streets—sometimes for days—only to be blown over by wind in stormy
weather and trash strewn, which attracts crows especially that spread garbage.  I do my best to clean up those
messes.  I’m concerned not only of the appearance and sanitation issues but also animals getting into trash. 
Although fireworks don’t appear to be allowed, people set them off on the beach and more likely than not leave
behind the mess, which I’m also tired of cleaning up.  I’m tired of people building fires on the beach and just leave
them burning (I actually burned my foot once by walking into an unattended still-burning log).  I’m tired of seeing
dog owners watch their dogs defecate on the beach or the street and just walk on leaving the mess or not paying
enough to their off-leash dogs to notice that the dog has defecated.  Believe me I’m not shy about speaking to those
inconsiderate folks.  I’m tired of drivers speeding along on our narrow streets and that includes residents.  During
the summer season by August each year I’m counting the days to Labor Day when the number of vacationers begins
to dwindle.

Upon entering NB there is a “one-way” sign at Railroad St. which turns into Lake St. but there is no “do not enter”
sign at Lake St. and Nedonna Ave.  I can assure you that drivers enter Lake St. from Nedonna Ave. going the wrong
direction and that’s an accident waiting to happen.  Just last week I saw two vehicles heading the opposite direction
at the same time on Lake St. twice in two days.  The first day the vehicles continued on passing each other on that
narrow one-way street.  The second day I was walking on Lake St. with my dog at the very same time the vehicles
were heading toward each other.  My dog and I were between the two vehicles.  Luckily the wrong-way driver
noticed the other vehicle and I’m assuming me and was able to back up off Lake St. and onto Nedonna Ave. without
incident.  One day there will be a collision at the curve (about the point where Railroad turns into Lake), but
hopefully involving two slow drivers.

With ever increasing traffic, especially with drivers constantly ignoring the posted speed limit, we cannot continue
with just one entrance into NB since the City is seriously considering allowing the development of 22 additional
homes.  Also, I imagine that many, if not most, of those new homes will become vacation rentals, and as far as I can
tell the county—and maybe city in that northeast corner—has no incentive to impose stricter requirements for the



vacation rentals.

I would love for NB to continue to be a safe and quiet community in which to live.

Donna L. Locke
8760 Beach St.
Nedonna Beach
(503) 

Sent from my iPad



1

City Planner

From: Gary Corbin < >
Sent: Wednesday, June 12, 2024 8:08 AM
To: City Planner
Subject: Nedonna Development plan

As property owners in the Nedonna Beach area (26642 Kittiwake Drive), we are writing to express our concerns 
regarding the planned development on Tax Lots 10200, 10400, and 10500. 
 
First, the proposed development would displace the current designated Tsunami Evacuation Route. The planned 
development would add 22 new housing units in a compact area, nearly doubling the number of houses currently in place 
(31) on the Kittiwake and Song Street corridor. Does the City have a plan for expanding Tsunami Evacuation capacity to 
accommodate the additional numbers of families and vehicles that would crowd this corridor? If so, please provide that 
information. 
 
A second area of concern is utility capacity. While I understand a sewer pumping station would be installed, we do not 
see plans for expansion of pipe capacity. Do the existing water and sewer lines have the capacity to accommodate the 22 
new units in addition to the existing units with no diminution of service quality or availability? What analysis has been 
performed to ensure this? What plans have been made to expand capacity to ensure adequate service to all 53 homes? 
 
Are system development charges planned for these units? If so, what assurances will Nedonna Beach residents have that 
the SDC funds collected will be used to improve service and capacity in our area? 
 
A third area of concern is use. What use type designations are planned for these units? Will they be short-term vacation 
rentals (STVRs), full-time single family homes, or long-term rentals? Will the current temporary cap on short-term 
vacation rentals be made permanent to ensure the area is not further flooded with this type of use?  
 
Already at the many current STVRs in the area, flagrant violations and abuses of city rules and regulations abound with 
little thought to enforcement. On two rentals on property abutting ours, occupancy and parking limits are routinely 
ignored, and renters’ children have often resorted to playing in the street itself on Section Line - a rather busy collector 
street. If new STVRs are added, what steps will the city take to increase enforcement? 
 
Fourth, traffic and road conditions. Those of us who live in the City portion of Rockaway depend on county roads such as 
Nedonna, Beach, and Section Line for access. Those streets get heavy use and frequently fall quickly into states of 
disrepair. Drivers, particularly tourists, regularly drive well above the speed limit, and just last year a child was hit by a 
speeding car and sent to the hospital with severe injuries. In an area with no sidewalks, residents need assurances that 
our streets will remain safe and in good condition. But the increased traffic of this large development will inevitably raise 
the risk of diminished safety and increased violations. What steps will the city take to ensure that our roads will remain 
safe and in good condition with this drastic increase in use? 
 
The Nedonna Beach area currently has only one point of entry/exit for vehicles, as it has since the development first broke 
ground in the early 2000s. Since then the area has grown significantly in terms of people and residences. This new 
development would significantly increase the number of vehicles and persons attempting to use that single entry/exit 
point, and would exacerbate potential dangers during an emergency. Has any thought been given to adding a second 
entry/exit point? If so, where? If not, why not? 
 
Fifth, the properties being developed are adjacent to wetland areas that provide greenspace, a noise buffer from the 
highway, and breeding grounds for wildlife. A pair of nesting eagles has made their home in the buffer zone and a colony 
of beavers has settled in the creek behind us and our neighbors. Many of us chose this area for the beauty and quiet 
afforded by our natural surroundings. What protections will the builder and the city put in place to preserve the natural 
habitats and greenspace in the Nedonna Beach area, particularly in the areas adjacent to the development? 
 



2

We understand that this area has been approved for development for some time and that the addition of new units is 
inevitable. We would prefer, however, that development proceed in a measured pace so that concerns of this type can be 
addressed thoughtfully and more affordably in advance and not emerge later as problems that could have, and should 
have, been addressed…but become, at that point, matters for which available remedies are too little, too late, and too 
expensive. 
 
Respectfully, 
 
Gary Corbin and Renee Faddis 

 Kittiwake Dr. 
Rockaway Beach, OR 
503-  
 
 



From: Pat
To: City Planner
Subject: Proposed new development in Nedonna
Date: Thursday, May 16, 2024 7:54:47 PM

Hi Mary,
 
Relative to the proposed new 22 lot  development in Nedonna, I am opposed to it.

The traffic already on Riley st is not controlled. It is the best road in the area and people that
currently live or visit White Dove and the other development adjacent to the proposed, treat
Riley as a freeway.
People speed regularly and we don't need additional uncontrolled traffic. Riley is also a main
corridor to the beach with heavy foot traffic and kids on bicycles traversing it. 

Another concern, is that Nedonna has turned into a busy residential rental market. It has
changed the complexion to the environment. For many that come it is a party place and to
some, there is disregard to people that own homes. We can't stop this, but additional
requirements for rentals could be imposed. I know this is a separate issue.

I'm not against growth and the tax dollars directed to the community.
However, in the past, it was discussed aggressively for consideration to add another entrance
& exit to Nedonna, but as with wetland mitigation it fell on to deaf ears to make these a
requirement for new development.

We also talk about wildfire and potential tsunami issues, but we want to add more housing to
an already congested area. Hopefully we don't face those issues, but in such an occurrence
many may not make it out of the area.

Should this new development be approved and go forward, there should be a minimum of
speed bumps or other speed deterents on Riley. It has become a safety issue and needs that
mitigation. 

Please consider me as a no to this new 22 lot development.

Karl Nulton 
Riley st.

Sent from AOL on Android



From: maerwert@aol.com
To: City Planner
Subject: Nedonna beach development
Date: Thursday, May 16, 2024 7:53:29 PM

Hello, 
We are opposed to the Nedonna Beach development due to concerns about egress from our
neighborhood . If there were to be an emergency we feel it would be difficult for vehicles to
leave the neighborhood. We are retirees and running to a tsunami trail is not something we
would be able to do. Therefore the only egress is at Manhattahan Beach. In addition the
railroad crossing poses a problem if a train were to be stopped at the crossing there would be
no other point of egress. We feel this should be addressed before new development occurs.
Thank you for hearing our concerns.
Mary and Dan Erwert

White Dove Avenue 
Rockaway Beach, Or

Sent from the all new AOL app for iOS



From: Thompson, Paul
To: City Planner
Subject: Nedonna Beach issues
Date: Friday, May 10, 2024 9:33:50 AM

Hello Mary,

Elaine and I have owned property in Nedonna Beach since 2000. In that time we have seen the little
burg clean up and grow a bit. We really love it, and may move there permanently soon.

I have spent time on the City Council, Urban Renewal, and Planning Commission in Hood River over the
years, so I understand the difficulty in handling all the wants and needs of the developers, while at the
same time honoring the views of those already living there. I rather like the new stuff at the northeast
part of town, and wish we had city sewer where our house is across from Nedonna Lake - I would vote
for it. But the biggest issue in my mind is access. The whole community is served by one skinny road off
the highway. And since Beach Street is in such crummy shape, everybody uses Nedonna Avenue - and
the construction workers and trucks roar by all day long. Coupled with the possible need for evacuation,
it just seems like an irresponsible decision to allow further development until there is better access. I
know it will be difficult, but there needs to be a way in and out on the north end where all the new
development is.

Thank you for your work and consideration,

Paul Thompson

photo Paul Thompson
Principal Broker licensed OR/WA, Copper West Real Estate

A 14 Oak Street, Hood River, OR 97031
O  541-386-2330 X 409  M  541-490-1044 
E  paul@copperwest.com  W  copperwest.com

‌



From: Tom Heckenberg
To: City Planner
Cc: activewhere@yahoo.com
Subject: Citizen Concerns regarding the Nedonna Wave Phase 2 development proposal
Date: Sunday, May 19, 2024 5:01:44 PM

To: Mary Johnson
Re: Concerns regarding the Nedonna Wave Phase 2 development proposal dated Feb 20, 2024.

From: Thomas Heckenberg
            White Dove Ave
            Rockaway Beach
            ph: 503-
            email: 

I respectively request your consideration of the following concerns regarding the Nedonna Wave Phase 2
development proposal.   
As a person who has explored the proposed construction area many times and, in all seasons, I know that land and
the land around it pretty well.  Many times in the winter I have unplugged the culverts around that area, and I’ve
seen the upstream flooding when they are plugged.   As the board member on the Nedonna Beach Neighborhood
Association who is responsible for Emergency planning and evacuation route maintenance I am painfully aware of
what we have, and what we need.  For many years I have worked with county and state officials regarding the
Nedonna Beach evacuation routes and Emergency plans.           As you will see below my concerns mainly deal with
impacts to the surrounding neighborhood and environment which may be outside the standard city building permit
requirements, but are still important.   Although the city of Rockaway Beach may not to directly require Emergency
Evacuation routes to be part of a building approval, I believe it should be considered as part of the public welfare,
especially if the proposed development would negatively impact existing public welfare.  I would also like the city
to determine if the proposed development and houses are going to cause issues downstream on the ecosystem, and
with increased flooding. 

Emergency Evacuation:
The Tsunami evacuation route for the phase 2 homes would be through a steep single file trail that already services
over a hundred homes and families.  Today that route is barely adequate.  Adding 22 more homes will only
exacerbate an already poor situation. In a major earthquake/Tsunami event people will be desperately trying to get to
high ground before the wave hits.   Computer models indicate that the addition of the 22 houses of people would
cause a an additional ~90 second delay to those fleeing up hill.  With the earthquake already having caused massive
damage, and the Tsunami coming soon these scared people will not wait patiently, any delay will cause more panic,
and a panicked crowd will cause unnecessary death.  I believe it to be irresponsible to allow these houses to be built
without a clear path for the people to evacuate.  Approval of this proposal should include an evacuation route which
provides an unrestricted evacuation flow of all residents who rely on this path.  This is a public welfare, public
safety problem.  
Also, the Phase 2 Memorandum dated Feb 20 2024, Section II under modifications to the PUD approval, item
number 3 states:
“Provide that when the owner of the land to the south extends Jackson Street south into that property, the city will
vacate the east stub of Riley Street so that Riley Street will terminate in a T intersection with Jackson Street, and the
vacated stub can be combined with Tract E to form an additional building lot”
Currently the east stub of Riley Street is exactly where the city, county, and state recognized emergency evacuation
route is located. The well distributed DOGAMI “beat the wave” maps direct people to that trail.   Turning that into a
building lot will mean a third of Nedonna will lose their fastest way out of Nedonna. Most of the Nedonna Beach
full time residents are older retired people, many already question if they could make it out in time, without this path
they won't have a chance.    Item 3 should not be approved without consideration of the public welfare.   Again, we
need a guaranteed route out of the Tsumani inundation zone, and a route that will handle the full capacity
requirements.
 
Water Flow Impact:  
The proposed houses east of Kittiwake are all going to be built either in an area that floods or on a hillside.  Much of



the land east of Kittiwake is designated as Special Wetland.  Two McMillian Creek tributaries run through the
proposed construction area, and when the culverts under Kittiwake plug up in the winter, as they always do, this area
becomes a swamp. On a site inspection you will see many of the Alder trees are not healthy, and the reason is that
they are drowned in the winter.  House and road construction on the hillsides cannot help but have an adverse effect
on these wetland, debris and dirt will flow downhill into the wetlands, changing the water flow, adding fill, and
increasing the material which clogs the culverts in the winter. This last winter with only minor culvert blockage on
McMillian and Nedonna Creeks flood waters were within a few feet of houses on Central Court. Nedonna Beach is
at the bottom of a large hill, and in the winter the rain water fills our creeks, and if there is a blockage somewhere it
fills the streets, add in a high tide and flood waters threaten houses. 
One lesson we humans have learned is that wetlands such as this provide a valuable service during a flood. They act
as a sponge to soak up water, and then slowly release that water, they effectively slow down the water.  When we
take out wetlands the downstream flooding gets worse.  In this case the reduction or loss of this wetland could cause
more winter flooding on the houses on Kittiwake Ave, Chieftain Ave, Section Line Rd, and White Dove Ave. We
already see houses in this area with water in their crawlspaces during high tides when combined with heavy winter
rains. Loss of this wetland sponge may very well increase flooding downstream, how much more flooding is hard to
say, but it could be the difference between pumping a crawlspace and replacing everything on the first floor.  Before
approval of this planned development the city should be able to state with confidence that it will not harm existing
houses.   We already have a winter flooding problem, please don’t make it worse.

McMillian Creek appears to be a temporary habitat for young Salmon before they enter the ocean. Every year the
pond behind my house comes alive with small salmon fry.  We suspect they come in from the Nehalem River. That
pond is fed by McMillian Creek and is downhill from the proposed construction.   Construction is a messy
operation, especially when it rains hard, there is no way to prevent soil from entering the waterway.  Increased
turbidity into McMillian Creek will disrupt this fish flow, disrupting important temporary habitat, and could
negatively impact the Nehalem River Salmon runs.  I would like a state biologist to approve the impact to this
unique ecosystem.

Feel free to contact me with any questions regarding these concerns.  I look forward to your response.

Thank you for your consideration.
Thomas Heckenberg 



 
 

PUD #24-1  Page 1 
Staff Report 

CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 
PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION 
 
STAFF REPORT Case File #PUD-24-1 

Hearing Date: June 20, 2024 
 
APPLICANT: Nedonna Development LLC 
 
AGENT FOR APPLICANT: Dean N. Alterman 
 
REQUEST: The Applicant is requesting a modification to the Nedonna Wave Planned Unit Development that was 
approved by the City of Rockaway Beach in 2008.  The Applicant seeks the following modifications to Phase 2 of 
the 2008 approval: 
 

1. To develop Phase 2 in two sub-phases, instead of one phase;  
 

2. To create two lots instead of one lot at the north end of Jackson Street (identified as lot 24 on the 2008 
approved plan), identified as lots 21 and 22 on the plans submitted with the Application;  

 
3. To create four lots instead of three lots at the northeast corner of Kittiwake Drive and Riley Street 

(identified as Lots 14, 15, and 16 on the 2008 approved plan), identified as lots 13, 14, 15 and 16 on 
the plan submitted with the Application; and  

 
4. Provide that when the owner of the land to the south extends Jackson Street south into that property, 

the City will vacate the east stub of Riley Street, so that Riley Street will terminate in a T intersection 
with Jackson Street, and the vacated stub can be combined with Tract E to form an additional building 
lot. 

 
A. REPORT OF FACTS 

 
1. Property Location:  The subject property is located on Kittiwake Drive north of Riley Street and South 

of Song Street in Nedonna Beach.  The property is identified as Tillamook County Assessor’s Map 
#2N1020AB Lots # 10200, 10400, and 10500.   
 

2. Lot Size: approximately 2.56 acres. 
 

3. Zoning Designation: R-1 (Single Family Residential Zone), SA (Special Area Wetlands Zone), and 
PUD (Planned Unit Development) Overlay. 

 
4. Surrounding Land Use: Adjacent to the north is the existing Nedonna Wave Planned Unit Development 

Phase 1.  To the east is undeveloped private land zoned R-1 (Single Family Residential Zone) and 
Highway 101.  To the south is undeveloped private land zoned R-1 (Single Family Residential) and SA 
(Special Area Wetlands).  To the west is White Dove Estates neighborhood, which is zoned R-1 (Single 
Family Residential). 

 



 
 

PUD #24-1  Page 2 
Staff Report 

5. Existing Structures: None, except for utilities installed by the Applicant during the construction of 
Phase 1, for Phase 2. 

 
6. Utilities: The following utilities serve the subject property: 

a. Sewer: City of Rockaway Beach 
b. Water: City of Rockaway Beach 
c. Electricity: Tillamook P.U.D. 

 
7. Development Constraints: The property contains wetlands that were delineated by a professional 

wetlands consultant prior to the 2008 approval.  As wetlands are not stagnant, according to the 
Department of State Lands (DSL), the former delineation is no longer valid and expire after a period of 
five years.  At the time of the 2008 approval, the Applicant provided a joint permit from the DSL and 
the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.  These permits have now expired and will need to be renewed before 
any disturbance or impacts to the wetlands takes place. If the request is approved, the Applicant will be 
required to obtain and provide copies of necessary permits from these agencies prior to initiating 
construction.   
 
In addition, a portion of the subject property is located within the 100-year floodplain as identified on 
the Flood Insurance Rate Map Panel Number 41057C0218F.  
 

B. EVALUATION OF THE REQUEST 
 

1. General Description of the Proposal: The Applicant is requesting a modification to the Nedonna Wave 
Planned Unit Development that was approved by the City of Rockaway Beach in 2008.  The Applicant 
seeks the following modifications to Phase 2 of the 2008 approval: (1) To develop Phase 2 in two sub-
phases, instead of one phase; (2) To create two lots instead of one lot at the north end of Jackson Street 
(identified as lot 24 on the 2008 approved plan), identified as lots 21 and 22 on the plans submitted 
with the Application; (3) To create four lots instead of three lots at the northeast corner of Kittiwake 
Drive and Riley Street (identified as Lots 14, 15, and 16 on the 2008 approved plan), identified as lots 
13, 14, 15 and 16 on the plan submitted with the Application; and (4) Provide that when the owner of 
the land to the south extends Jackson Street south into that property, the City will vacate the east stub 
of Riley Street, so that Riley Street will terminate in a T intersection with Jackson Street, and the 
vacated stub can be combined with Tract E to form an additional building lot. 

 
2. Agency Comments:  

 
a. City of Rockaway Beach Engineer: See attached letter from HBH Engineering which identifies 

issues that will need to be addressed through the more formal engineering review if the request 
is approved. 
 

b. Department of State Lands:  See attached Wet Land Use Notice Response which identifies 
additional reporting and permitting that will need to be completed and obtained prior to any 
disturbance of the wetland areas.  

 



 
 

PUD #24-1  Page 3 
Staff Report 

3. Ordinance Standards: The following substantive criteria apply to this request.  To facilitate review, staff 
comments are in italicized font. 
 
Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance Section 3.010, Single Family Residential Zone (R-1).  In the R-1 
zone the following regulations shall apply: 

 
a. The minimum lot size shall be 3,500 square feet for lots existing at the time of the adoption of 

Ordinance 235. Lots platted after the adoption of Ordinance 235 shall have a minimum lot size of 
5,000 square feet. 
 
The Applicant was approved for a PUD overlay in 2008, allowing for the development of lots lesser 
than the minimum lot size requirement for the R-1 zone.  The Applicant is currently seeking to 
create two lots instead of one lot at the north end of Jackson Street (identified as lot 24 on the 2008 
approved plan), identified as lots 21 and 22 on the plans submitted with the Application, and to 
create four lots instead of three lots at the northeast corner of Kittiwake Drive and Riley Street 
(identified as Lots 14, 15, and 16 on the 2008 approved plan), identified as lots 13, 14, 15 and 16 
on the plan submitted with the Application.  These additional lots the Applicant seeks to include, 
which were not included in the original PUD approval, do not meet the minimum lot size 
requirements for the R-1 zone. It should also be noted that the lots the Applicant seeks to amend 
which are identified as Lots 14, 15, and 16 on the 2008 approved plan, are also below the minimum 
lot size requirement.  Lot 24 on the 2008 approved plan did meet the minimum lot size requirement 
for the R-1 zone. 
 

b. The density of duplexes shall be: for lots existing prior to the adoption of Ordinance 235, a duplex 
is permitted on a lot with a minimum size of 3,500 square feet, for lots platted after the adoption of 
Ordinance 235, a duplex is permitted on a lot with a minimum size of 5,000 square feet. 

 
The Applicant indents to construct single-family dwellings, therefore this standard is not 
applicable. 

 
c. Minimum lot width is 50 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum 

lot width shall be 35 feet. 
 
The Applicant was approved for a PUD overlay in 2008, allowing for the development of lots lesser 
than the minimum depth requirement for the R-1 zone.  The additional lots the Applicant seeks to 
add to through this modification are also lesser than the minimum width requirement. 

 
d. Minimum lot depth is 70 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum 

lot depth shall be 60 feet. 
 

The Applicant was approved for a PUD overlay in 2008, allowing for the development of lots lesser 
than the minimum depth requirement for the R-1 zone.  The additional lots the Applicant seeks to 
add to through this modification are also lesser than the minimum depth requirement. 

 
e. The minimum front yard shall be 15 feet, unless subsection 3.010(3)(h) applies. 

 



 
 

PUD #24-1  Page 4 
Staff Report 

This standard is typically reviewed for conformance and applied at the time a building permit is 
required. 

 
f. The minimum side yard shall be 5 feet, except that on the street side of a corner lot it shall be 15 

feet. 
 

This standard is typically reviewed for conformance and applied at the time a building permit is 
required. 

 
g. The minimum rear yard shall be 20 feet, except that on a corner lot it may be a minimum of 5 feet 

unless subsection 3.010(3)(h) applies. Oceanfront structures shall conform to Section 5.060(1)(b). 
 

This standard is typically reviewed for conformance and applied at the time a building permit is 
required. 

 
h. For lots of less than 5,000 square feet in size, but more than 3,500 square feet, the minimum front 

yard shall be 15 feet and the minimum rear yard shall be 10 feet, except that on a corner lot the 
rear yard may be a minimum of 5 feet. For lots of 3,500 square feet in size or less, the minimum 
front yard and rear yard shall be ten feet, except that on a corner lot the rear yard may be a 
minimum of 5 feet. Notwithstanding the above, oceanfront structures shall conform to Section 
5.060(1)(b). 

 
This standard is typically reviewed for conformance and applied at the time a building permit is 
required.  However, it should be noted that the Applicant was approved for a PUD overlay in 2008, 
allowing for the development of lots lesser than the minimum lot size outlined for the R-1 zone. 

 
i. The maximum building height shall be 20 feet on the oceanfront and 24 feet elsewhere except east 

of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet. 
 

This standard is typically reviewed for conformance and applied at the time a building permit is 
required. 

 
j. A minimum of 30% of the lot will be maintained in natural vegetation or landscaping. 

 
This standard is typically reviewed for conformance and applied at the time a building permit is 
required. 

 
Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance Section 3.080, Special Wetlands Area (SA).  In the SA zone the 
following regulations shall apply: 
 
a. All activities involving construction or alteration in wetlands or aquatic areas shall be reviewed by 

the Oregon Division of State Lands and the US Army Corps of Engineers to determine permit 
applicability. 

 
The Application has been provided to DSL for review.  The DSL response is attached to this 
application, outlining additional reporting and permitting necessary for this Application. 



 
 

PUD #24-1  Page 5 
Staff Report 

 
b. The Shorelands Siting Criteria in Section 4.041 shall be applicable to all activities in the SA zone. 

Nothing in the Shorelands Siting Criteria shall be interpreted to permit uses which are not otherwise 
allowed in (2) or (3) above. 

 
The Shoreland Siting Criteria applies to developments taking place within 50 feet of the shore of 
any lake, therefore this criteria does not apply. 

 
c. Every effort shall be made to use common or community docking facilities prior to construction of 

an individual, single- purpose dock. Generally, there should be a maximum of one dock every 250 
feet. Docks shall not include covered structures or boathouses. 

 
No docks are proposed in this Application, therefore this criteria does not apply. 

 
d. Access to the water area through wetlands may be constructed in the form of raised walkways on 

pilings, posts or piers. Where the affected resource agencies (e.g. Oregon Department of Fish & 
Wildlife) determine the activity to have minimal environmental impacts, trails or paths consisting 
of clean gravel, bark chips, or other material may be placed through wetlands. Such walkways shall 
not be wider than eight (8) feet. Wherever possible, trails or walkways shall be constructed for the 
common usage of a development or group of structures. 

 
The Application does not propose any access to the water areas, therefore this criteria is not 
applicable. 

 
e. Removal or control of aquatic vegetation may be permitted, where allowed by the Oregon 

Department of Fish and Wildlife, in order to provide angler access, or other valid purpose. 
 

The subject property does not provide angler access, therefore this criteria is not applicable. 
 
f. Dredging shall be allowed only: (i) If a need (i.e., a substantial public benefit) is demonstrated, and; 

(ii) If the use or alteration does not unreasonably interfere with public trust rights, and; (iii) If no 
feasible alternative upland locations exist, and; (iv) If adverse impacts are minimized. 

 
Dredging is not proposed as part of this Application, therefore this criteria is not applicable. 

 
g. When dredging is permitted, the dredging shall be the minimum necessary to accomplish the 

proposed use. 
 
Dredging is not proposed as part of this Application, therefore this criteria is not applicable. 

 
h. The timing of dredging operations shall be coordinated with state and federal resource agencies, to 

protect aquatic and shoreland resources, and minimize interference with recreational fishing.  
 

Dredging is not proposed as part of this Application, therefore this criteria is not applicable. 



 
 

PUD #24-1  Page 6 
Staff Report 

 
i. Piling installation may be allowed only if all of the following criteria are met: (i) A substantial 

public benefit is demonstrated, and; (ii) The proposed use does not unreasonably interfere with 
public trust rights, and; (iii) Feasible alternative upland locations do not exist, and; (iv) Potential 
adverse impacts are minimized. 

 
Piling installation is not proposed as part of this Application, therefore this criteria is not 
applicable. 

 
j. Shoreline stabilization measures shall meet the criteria of Section 4.120. 

 
Shoreline stabilization is not proposed as part of this Application, therefore this criteria is not 
applicable. 

 
k. Fill may be permitted only if all of the following criteria are met: (i) If required for a water-

dependent use requiring an aquatic location, or if specifically allowed in the SA zone, and; (ii) A 
substantial public benefit is demonstrated, and; (iii) The proposed fill does not unreasonably 
interfere with public trust rights, and; (iv) Feasible upland alternative locations do not exist, and; (v) 
Adverse impacts are minimized. 

 
Fill is not proposed as part of this Application, therefore this criteria is not applicable. 

 
l. Fill shall cover no more area than the minimum necessary to accomplish the proposed use. 

 
Fill is not proposed as part of this Application, therefore this criteria is not applicable. 

 
m. Projects involving fill may be approved only if the following alternatives are examined and found to 

be infeasible: (i) Construct some or all of the project on piling; (ii) Conduct some or all of the 
proposed activity on existing upland areas; (iii) Approve the project at a feasible alternative site 
where adverse impacts are less significant. 
 
Fill is not proposed as part of this Application, therefore this criteria is not applicable. 

 
n. Zone Boundary Determination. At such time that a development is proposed in the vicinity of an 

area designated Special Area Wetlands, the City may require a site investigation to determine the 
exact location of the zone boundary. The site investigation shall be performed by a qualified agent 
such as a biologist from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers or the Division of State Lands. 

 
The Application has been provided to DSL for review.  The DSL response is attached to this report, 
outlining the requirement for an updated site investigation to be conducted by a qualified agent to 
determine the exact location of the zone boundary. 
 

 



 
 

PUD #24-1  Page 7 
Staff Report 

Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance Section 3.092, Flood Hazard Overlay Zone (FHO).  In the FHO 
zone the following regulations shall apply: 
 
a. All subdivision proposals shall provide engineered plans consistent with the need to minimize flood 

damage. 
 

The Application has been provided to the City Engineers for review.  Comments from the City 
Engineers are attached this report, outlining all public improvements be constructed within the 
public right of way.  The public right of way is located outside of the flood zone and therefore are 
consistent with the requirements of minimizing flood damage. 
 

b. All subdivision proposals shall have public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical and 
water systems located and constructed to minimize flood damage. 
 
The Application has been provided to the City Engineers for review.  Comments from the City 
Engineers are attached this report, outlining all public improvements be constructed within the 
public right of way.  The public right of way is located outside of the flood zone and therefore are 
consistent with the requirements of minimizing flood damage. 

 
c. All subdivision proposals shall have adequate drainage provided to reduce exposure to flood 

damage. 
 

The Application has been provided to the City Engineers for review.  Comments from the City 
Engineers are attached this report, directing the Applicant to submit an acceptable storm drainage 
report prior to the final design of the storm drainage system. 

 
d. Where base flood elevation data has not been provided or is not available from another authoritative 

source, it shall be generated for subdivision proposals and other proposed developments which 
contain at least 50 lots or 5 acres (whichever is less). 
 
The Application is less than 50 lots and 5 acres, therefore this criteria is not applicable. 

 
Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance Section 3.132, Wetland Notification Overlay Zone.  In the Wetland 
Notification Overlay zone the following regulations shall apply: 
 
1. No person shall do any site preparation work in conjunction with a use permitted in the underlying 

zoning district in which the property is located, without first notifying the City of the proposed 
action. Site preparation work is defined as any grading, filling, drainage, excavation or tree removal 
on the subject property. 

 
The Applicant has not taken any site preparation action, with the exception of the approved site 
preparation completed during Phase 1. 
 



 
 

PUD #24-1  Page 8 
Staff Report 

2. The required notification shall take the form of a description of the location of the property and a 
sketch describing the site preparation work to be undertaken. 

 
The Applicant has not yet applied for any site preparation work with this Application. 

 
3. Upon receipt of the notification, the City shall meet with the applicant and inform him/her that the 

subject property and proposed site preparation activities may be subject to the jurisdiction of the 
Department of State Lands and the US Army Corps of Engineers. 

 
As noted in the response from the DSL, additional permitting and review are necessary prior to 
site preparation work. 

 
4. The applicant shall contact the Department of State Lands and the US Army Corps of Engineers 

and seek a determination of whether the subject property and proposed site preparation activities 
are subject to their jurisdiction. 

 
The DSL has noted in their response that permitting from DSL is required and permitting from the 
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers may be required before site preparation work may begin. 

 
5. If the US Army Corps of Engineers and/or the Department of State Lands determines that it has 

jurisdiction, the applicant shall receive a permit from these agencies before site preparation work 
may begin. 

 
The DSL has noted in their response that permitting from DSL is required and permitting from the 
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers may be required before site preparation work may begin. 

 
6. If the Department of State Lands and/or the US Army Corps of Engineers determines that it does 

not have jurisdiction, the applicant may begin site preparation work upon presenting the City with 
a written confirmation of such a determination, and subject to applicable City requirements. 

 
Based upon the response received from DSL on the initial review of the Application, the DSL has 
determined that it does have jurisdiction, therefore this standard does not apply. 

 
Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance Section 3.140 (6), Tsunami Hazard Overlay Zone (TH).  In the 
TH zone the following regulations shall apply: 
 
Evacuation Route Improvement Requirements. Except single family dwellings on existing lots and 
parcels, all new development, substantial improvements and land divisions in the Tsunami Hazard 
Overlay Zone shall incorporate evacuation measures and improvements, including necessary vegetation 
management, which are consistent with and conform to the adopted Tsunami Evacuation Facilities 
Improvement Plan. Such measures may include: 
 

a. On-site improvements: (i) Improvements necessary to ensure adequate pedestrian access from 
the development site to evacuation routes designated in the Evacuation Route Plan in all 



 
 

PUD #24-1  Page 9 
Staff Report 

weather and lighting conditions. (ii) Frontage improvements to designated evacuation routes 
that are located on or contiguous to the proposed development site, where such improvements 
are identified in the Tsunami Evacuation Facilities Improvement Plan. Such improvements 
shall be proportional to the evacuation needs created by the proposed development. 

 
The Application does not address on-site evacuation route improvements.  The current tsunami 
evacuation route is located at the termination of Riley Street, past Jackson Street.  The 
Applicant has request the City vacate the eastern portion of Riley Street to allow for the future 
development of an additional lot, which would block the current evacuation route.   
 

b. Off-site improvements: Improvements to portions of designated evacuation routes that are 
needed to serve, but are not contiguous to, the proposed development site, where such 
improvements are identified in the Tsunami Evacuation Facilities Improvement Plan. Such 
improvements shall be proportional to the evacuation needs created by the proposed 
development. 
 
The Application does not address off-site evacuation route improvements.  The current tsunami 
evacuation route is located at the termination of Riley Street, past Jackson Street.  The 
Applicant has request the City vacate the eastern portion of Riley Street to allow for the future 
development of an additional lot, which would block the current evacuation route.   

 
c. Evacuation route signage consistent with the standards set forth in the Tsunami Evacuation 

Facilities Improvement Plan. Such signage shall be adequate to provide necessary evacuation 
information consistent with the proposed use of the site. 
 
The Application does not address tsunami evacuation route signage. 

 
d. Evacuation route improvements and measures required by this subsection may include the 

following: (i) Improved streets and/or all-weather surface paths of sufficient width and grade to 
ensure pedestrian access to designated evacuation routes in all lighting conditions; (ii) 
Improved streets and paths shall provide and maintain horizontal clearances sufficient to 
prevent the obstruction of such paths from downed trees and structure failures likely to occur 
during a Cascadia earthquake; and (iii) Such other improvements and measures identified in 
the Evacuation Route Plan. 

 
The Application does not provide for evacuation route improvements. 

 
Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance Article 10, Planned Unit Development (PUD).  The following 
regulations apply for PUDs:  

 
1. Minimum Lot Size. Planned Unit Developments shall be established only on parcels of land which 

are suitable for the proposed development and are determined by the planning commission to be in 
keeping with the intent of this ordinance.  

 



 
 

PUD #24-1  Page 10 
Staff Report 

In the 2008 approval of the Nedonna Wave Planned Unit Development, the Planning Commission 
allowed for the creation of minimum lot sizes which were lesser than the parent R-1 zone. 
 

2. Open Spaces. In all residential developments, or in combination residential-commercial 
developments, 50% of the total area should be devoted to open space. Of this area, 25% of said 
open space may be utilized privately by individual owners or users of the PUD; however, 75% of 
this area should be common or shared open space. The Planning Commission may increase or 
decrease the open space requirement depending on the particular site and the needs of the 
development. In no case should the open space be less than 40% of the site. 

 
The Application provides for the required open space, most of which is maintained wetlands and 
public roadways. 

 
3. Density. The density of a planned development shall not exceed the density of the parent zone, 

except as more restrictive regulations may be prescribed as a condition of the PUD permit. When 
calculating density, the gross area is used (total area including street dedications). Areas of public 
uses may be included in calculating allowable density. 

 
As noted in the Applicant’s Memorandum, the with the addition of the proposed two additional lots, 
the density requirement is still met. 

 
4. Subdivision of Lot Sizes. Minimum area, width, depth, and frontage requirements for subdivision 

lots in a PUD may be less than the minimums set forth elsewhere in City ordinances, provided that 
the overall density is in conformance, and that lots conform to the approved preliminary 
development plan. 

 
As noted previously in this report, the minimum area, width, depth and frontage requirements are 
lesser than the parent R-1 zone.  Density is in conformance with the R-1 zone. 

 
5. Off-Street Parking. Parking spaces shall conform to all provisions of this ordinance, except that the 

Planning Commission may authorize exceptions where warranted by unusual circumstances. 
 
This standard is typically reviewed for conformance and applied at the time a building permit is 
required. 

 
6. Signs. All signs of any type within a PUD are subject to design review and approval of the Planning 

Commission. They shall consider each sign on its merits based on its aesthetic impact on the area, 
potential traffic hazards, potential violation of property and privacy rights of adjoining property 
owners, and need for said sign. 

 
The Applicant submitted sign approval with the original PUD application.  The Applicant is not 
seeking modification to these signs.   

 



 
 

PUD #24-1  Page 11 
Staff Report 

7. Height Guidelines. The same restrictions shall prevail as permitted outright in the zone in which 
such development occurs, except that the Planning Commission may allow a variance of heights 
where it is determined that surrounding property will not be harmed. 

 
The Applicant had previously sought and been approved for variances for height for the PUD.  
Copies of the Variance request are included in the original application materials. 

 
8. Streets and Roads. Necessary streets and roads within the PUD shall be dedicated to the public and 

constructed to City standards or shall be private roads maintained by an owner’s association and 
constructed to standards as determined by the Planning Commission and City Engineer. 

 
The City Engineer comments attached to this application direct the Applicant to construct all 
streets to meet or exceed the City of Rockaway Beach Design Standards and Technical 
Specifications. 

 
9. Dedication and Maintenance of Facilities. The Planning Commission, or on appeal, the City 

Council may, as a condition of approval for a PUD require that portions of the tract or tracts under 
consideration be set aside, improved, conveyed or dedicated to the following uses: 

 
a. Recreation Facilities: The Planning Commission may require that suitable area for parks 

or playgrounds be set aside, improved, or permanently reserved for the owners, residents, 
employees or patrons of the PUD. 
 
No recreation facilities are proposed in the Application. 
 

b. Common Area: Whenever common area is provided, the Planning Commission or City 
Council may require that an association of owners or tenants be created into a non-profit 
corporation under the laws of the State of Oregon, which shall adopt such Articles of 
Incorporation and By-Laws and adopt and impose such Declaration of Covenants and 
Restrictions on such common areas that are acceptable to the Planning Commission. Said 
association, if required, may undertake other functions. It shall be created in such a manner 
that owners of property shall automatically be members and shall be subject to assessments 
levied to maintain said common areas for the purposes intended. The period of existence 
of such association shall not be less than 20 years, and it shall continue thereafter and until 
a majority vote of the members shall terminate it. 
 
The Applicant has provided common open space and CC&Rs included in the Application 
for the Planning Commission to consider. 

 
c. Easements: Easements necessary to the orderly extension of public utilities may be 

required as a condition of approval. 
 



 
 

PUD #24-1  Page 12 
Staff Report 

The comments provided by the City Engineer direct all public improvements to be 
constructed within the existing public right of way or right of way to be dedicated to the 
City as part of the development. 

 
C. STAFF SUMMARY 

 
The Applicant has requested approval of modifications to the Nedonna Wave Planned Unit Development that was 
approved by the City of Rockaway Beach in 2008.  The requested modifications would allow the Applicant to 
develop Phase 2 in two sub-phases and to create two additional lots.  In addition to these modifications, the 
Applicant has also requested the City vacate the east stub of Riley Street to form an additional future building lot. 
 
The Memorandum provided with the Application materials contains history of the previously approved application, 
reasons for the requested modifications, and responses to some of the criteria of the Rockaway Beach Zoning 
Ordinance.   
 
Staff have solicited comments from other affected agencies and stakeholders, and those comments have been 
included in the record.  Most notably, the City Engineer has identified necessary permitting and improvements to 
existing City sewer facilities. 
 
In general, necessary public infrastructure improvements that are triggered by a proposed development must be 
provided by the developer of the project.  If approved, conditions of approval related to infrastructure improvements 
can be attached, which must be met prior to final plat approval. 
 
Staff have identified the substantive criteria for review of the request by the Planning Commission, and included 
the criteria in this report, along with comments where appropriate.  However, at the public hearing any party may 
provide testimony addressing these criteria or other criteria the party believes is applicable to the request. 
 

 
D. CONCLUSION 

 
The Planning Commission should carefully consider the request, including all oral and written testimony on record 
and presented at the public hearing, including comments from the City Engineer, government agencies, and other 
interested parties.  After considering testimony as it relates to this applicable criteria, the Planning Commission will 
need to make a decision on the request. 
 
If the Commission determines that the modifications to the Nedonna Wave Planned Unit Development meet the 
standards of the Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinances, it can make a motion to approve the request, including a 
statement that generally reflects the facts and rationale relied upon to reach the decision.  The motion should also 
direct staff to prepare findings, conclusions, and a final order to implement the decision. 
 
A motion to deny the request should set forth the general facts and rationale for the decision and direct staff to 
prepare the final order. 
 
A decision to approve or deny the request will be subject to a 15-day appeal period that will begin after written 
findings to support the decision have been signed by the Planning Commission Chair. 



l:\2015-009\gen eng services\nedonna wave subdivision phase ii\2024-06-12 nedonna wave pud 
phase ii city eng comments.docx

June 12, 2024

Mary Johnson
City Planner
PO Box 5
276 S Hwy 101
Rockaway Beach, OR 97136

Re: Nedonna Wave PUD Phase II – City Engineer Conditions of Approval

Dear Mary, 

The following conditions of approval should be included as part of the staff report for 
Nedonna Wave PUD Phase II. 

1) All public improvements, not limited to sewer, water, storm and street design, and 
construction shall meet or exceed the City of Rockaway Beach Design Standards and 
Technical Specifications.

2) The applicant shall submit an acceptable storm drainage report prior to the final 
design of the storm drainage system.

3) The applicant shall obtain a 1200-C permit from Oregon DEQ for the erosion control 
plans.

4) All sanitary sewer design shall obtain written approval by DEQ, including a pre-design 
report for the new regional pump station to serve the development. 

5) All public underground utilities including, but not limited to, water, gravity sanitary 
sewer, sanitary sewer force main, and storm drainage, installed on Phase 2 or for 
future use by Phase 2 or have not been in use since constructed, shall be tested at the 
expense of the owner and accepted by the City Engineer of Record.

6) The following off-site improvements shall be provided by the applicant/owner:

a) Regional sanitary sewer pump station and related infrastructure including but 
not limited to the following: three-phase submersible duplex pump station 
with controls, davit crane, on-site generator, telemetry, lighting, and fencing. 
It is not clear if the proposed sanitary sewer pump station site at the corner 
of Riley Street and Jackson Street will be sufficient to house the necessary 
infrastructure improvements. Finally, the tract on which the pump station will 
be located is to be dedicated to City.

b) Sanitary sewer force main from the regional pump station to the existing 
White Dove pump station.

c) Extend the White Dove sanitary sewer force main from NW 23rd Ave to the 
pump station at NW 17th Ave.

d) All public improvements shall be constructed within existing public ROW or 
ROW that will be dedicated to the City as part of this development. It is our 
understanding the southern half of Riley Street was constructed on the 
neighboring property without ROW dedication or a public easement.

Additional comments are as follows, while not necessarily conditions of approval, are in regard 
to the proposed modification request: 



City of Rockaway Beach
Nedonna Wave PUD Phase II – City Engineer Conditions of Approval 
June 12, 2024
Page 2 of 2

l:\2015-009\gen eng services\nedonna wave subdivision phase ii\2024-06-12 nedonna wave pud 
phase ii city eng comments.docx

A. Per Section D103.4 of the Oregon Fire Code, a fire truck turnaround is required when 
access roads exceed 150-feet in length. The fire truck turnaround at the intersection of 
Riley Street and Jackson Street shall remain as previously approved and the ROW is not to 
be vacated as requested by the applicant as part of the modification request to add an 
additional lot. If Jackson Street is extended south in the future, ROW vacation can be 
looked into at that time, if a fire truck turnaround is no longer necessary depending on the 
future road layout.

B. Per Section D107.1 of the Oregon Fire Code, “Developments of one- or two-family 
dwellings where the number of dwelling units exceeds 30 shall be provided with two 
separate and approved fire apparatus access roads. Exceptions:

a. Where there are more than 30 dwelling units on a single pubic or private fire 
apparatus access road and all dwelling units are equipped throughout with an 
approved automatic sprinkler system in accordance with Section 903.3.1.1, 
903.3.1.2, 903.3.1.3, access from two directions shall not be required.

b. The number of dwelling units on a single fire apparatus access road shall not be 
increased unless fire apparatus access roads will connect with future 
development, as determined by the fire code official.”

It appears that Beach Street is the only fire apparatus access road serving the entire 
Nedonna Beach area, which far exceeds 30 dwelling units. Therefore, unless all dwelling 
units in the Nedonna Beach area are equipped with an approved automatic sprinkler 
system, no additional dwelling units could be allowed per the Oregon Fire Code.

C. Based on civil engineering drawings prepared by Morgan Civil Engineering dated 
11/8/2020, proposed lot #22 and #15 do not have the minimum required 25-foot of ROW 
frontage required per City of Rockaway Beach subdivision ordinance Section 35(2), as only 
approximately 15-feet of frontage is provided at the north end of Jackson Street for lot #22 
and approximately 14-feet for lot #15 along Riley Street.

Should you have any questions, please contact me.

Sincerely, 
HBH Consulting Engineers, Inc.

Andrey Chernishov, PE, CWRE
Assistant City Engineer





An onsite inspection by a qualified wetland consultant is recommended prior to site development to determine if the 

site has wetlands or other waters that may be regulated. The determination or delineation report should be submitted 

to DSL for review and approval. Approved maps will have a DSL stamp with approval date and expiration date. 

Applicable Oregon Removal-Fill Permit Requirement(s) 

A state permit is required for 50 cubic yards or more of fill removal or other ground alteration in wetlands, below 

ordinary high water of waterways, within other waters of the state, or below highest measured tide. 

DSL Review 

Wetland Ecologist Comments 

There is an expired wetland delineation WD2004-0008 for the Phase 2-3 Nedonna Wave PUD site. That 

delineation supported the permit for wetland fill, APP36702, approved for Phases 1-3, but is now expired,. The 

accompanying Compensatory Wetland Mitigation for that permit, RGL 2928, was approved as completed. 

A review of best available information, including aerial imagery and LiDAR does not appear to show fill in all of 

the locations authorized in APP36702. APP36702 was annually renewed, which is typical for an application that 

has not completed its fill, until the year that the Compensatory Wetland Mitigation was approved, in 2012-2013. 

A new wetland delineation, reviewed and approved by DSL, is required in order to determine if there is a change 

in wetland boundaries and if a wetland removal-fill permit is required. DSL recommends that this delineation be 

sufficiently sized to include both Phases 2 and 3. It may be renewed for another 5 years if there are no changes 

before it expires in 5 years after approval. 

The applicanUconsultant should coordinate with the DSL permitting specialist for Tillamook County prior to 

submitting a permit application due to the complexity of the permitting record. If incomplete fill from APP36702 is 

proposed for completion for Phases 2-3, Compensatory Wetland Mitigation may not be required. 

This is a preliminary jurisdictional determination and is advisory only. 

This report is for the State Removal-Fill law only. City or County permits may be required for the proposed activity. 

A Federal permit may be required by The Army Corps of Engineers: (503)808-4373 

Contact Information 

o For information on permitting, use of a state-owned water, wetland determination or delineation report requirements

please contact the respective DSL Aquatic Resource, Proprietary or Jurisdiction Coordinator for the site county. The

current list is found at: http://www.oregon.gov/dsl/ww/pages/wwstaff.aspx

o The current Removal-Fill permit and/or Wetland Delineation report fee schedule is found

at: https://www.oregon.gov/dsl/WW/Documents/Removal-FillFees.pdf

Response Date 

6/13/2024 

Response by: 

Daniel Evans 

Response Phone: 

503-428-8188

A 

A 


	1. PC Meeting Agenda 2024-06-20
	4a. PC Minutes DRAFT 2024-05-16
	7a.1 CU 24-1 Application_Redacted
	7a.2 CU 24-1 Staff Report
	7b.1 PUD 24-1 Application 3-3-2024 (00177392xE9A19)
	7b.2 PUD 24-1 Application - Memorandum to City - Anna Song (00176011xE9A19)
	7b.3 PUD 24-1 Application -Maps
	7b.4  PUD 24-1 Application -CC&Rs
	7b.5 PUD 24-1 Application -Final order approving PUD and height variances 9-15-2008 for Nedonna Wave Phase 1 (00176149xE9A19)
	7b.6 PUD 24-1 Application - Plat of Nedonna Wave Phase 1 C-573
	7b.7 PUD 24-01 Public Testimony _Redacted
	PUD 24-01 Public Testimony 
	Danny Wihelmi
	Darrell & Diane DeJong
	Delta Holderness
	Delta Holderness - Attachment
	Donna Locke
	Gary Corbin
	Karl Nulton
	Mary and Dan Enwert
	Nedonna Beach issues
	Tom Heckenberg

	7b.8 PUD 24-01 Staff Report with Attachments
	Staff Report.pdf
	2024-06-12 Nedonna Wave PUD Phase II City Eng Comments.pdf
	Wetland Land Use Notice Response.pdf




